
 
 

 

 
 

 

 
 

Safer and Stronger Communities Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee 

 
 
Date Monday 27 February 2023 

Time 9.30 am 

Venue Committee Room 2, County Hall, Durham 

 
 

Business 
 

Part A 
 

Items which are open to the Public and Press 
Members of the public can ask questions with the Chair’s agreement, 

and if registered to speak. 
 
 
1. Apologies for Absence   

2. Substitute Members   

3. Minutes of the Meeting held on 12 December 2022  (Pages 3 - 10) 

4. Declarations of Interest, if any   

5. Any items from Co-opted Members or Interested Parties   

6. County Durham and Darlington Fire and Rescue Service Community 
 Risk Management Plan - Report of the Chief Fire Officer   
 (Pages 11 - 34) 

7. Probation Service - Report of the Corporate Director Resources and 
 Presentation by Head of County Durham and Darlington Probation 
 Service  (Pages 35 - 52) 

8. County Durham Youth Justice Service - Overview, Performance, 
 Service Developments and Improvement Plan 2022/23 - Report of the 
 Corporate Director, Children & Young People's Services   
 (Pages 53 - 66) 



9. Anti-Social Behaviour Strategy 2022 -2025 - Report of the Corporate 
 Director of Neighbourhoods and Climate Change  (Pages 67 - 112) 

10. Such other business as, in the opinion of the Chair of the meeting, is 
 of sufficient urgency to warrant consideration   

 
 

Helen Lynch 
Head of Legal and Democratic Services 

 
 

  County Hall 
  Durham 
  17 February 2023 

 
 
To: The Members of the Safer and Stronger Communities Overview 

and Scrutiny Committee 
 

Councillor J Charlton (Chair) 
Councillor P Heaviside (Vice-Chair) 
 
Councillors V Andrews, P Atkinson, D Boyes, J Cairns, L Fenwick, 
C Hampson, C Lines, M McGaun, D McKenna, C Martin, E Mavin, J Miller, 
D Nicholls, D Oliver, J Quinn, A Reed, A Simpson, D Sutton-Lloyd and 
M Wilson 
 
Co-opted Members: Mr D Balls and Mrs A Paterson 
 
Co-opted Employees/Officers: Chief Fire Officer S Helps and 
Superintendent L Gosling 
 
 

Contact:  Scott Hutchinson Tel: 03000 269706 

 
 
 
 
 
 



 

DURHAM COUNTY COUNCIL 
 

SAFER AND STRONGER COMMUNITIES OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE 

 
At a Meeting of Safer and Stronger Communities Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee held in Committee Room 2, County Hall, Durham on Monday 12 
December 2022 at 9.30 am 
 
 
Present: 
 

Councillor   

 

Members of the Committee: 

Councillors P Heaviside, V Andrews, J Cairns, L Fenwick, C Hampson, 
M McGaun, C Martin, J Miller, D Nicholls, D Oliver, J Quinn, A Simpson, 
D Sutton-Lloyd and M Wilson 
 
Co-opted Members: 

  
 
Co-opted Employees/Officers: 

Deputy Chief Fire Officer S Helps and Superintendent L Gosling 
 
 

1 Apologies for Absence  
 
Apologies for Absence were received from Councillor Joyce Charlton, Councillor 
Peter Atkinson, Councillor David McKenna, Councillor Eric Mavin, Councillor Anne 
Reed and Chief Fire Officer Stuart Errington.  
 
The Chair thanked Chief Fire Officer Stuart Errington for his contribution and work 
to the Committee over many years and wished him the best in his retirement. The 
Chair congratulated Deputy Chief Fire Officer Steve Helps who would be taking 
over as Chief Fire Officer following Stuart Errington’s retirement.  
 
The Chair thanked The Strategic Manager (Partnerships) Andrea Petty, who was 
leaving the Council to join the Police and Crime Commissioners Office as Chief of 
Staff for her contribution to the Committee.  
 

2 Substitute Members  
 
There were no substitute Members in attendance.  
 
 
 

Page 3

Agenda Item 3



3 Minutes of the Meeting held 11 October and 03 November 2022  
 
The minutes were agreed as a correct and accurate record and signed by the chair.  
 
Overview and Scrutiny Officer, Clare Luery noted at the 11 October special 
meeting, Members raised issues around empty properties. Members had been 
invited to an informal session on Empty Homes on 9 November which answered 
some of the points raised. A further session is to be arranged for early in the next 
year looking at empty commercial and non-residential properties. 
 
Comments raised on the Anti-Social Behaviour Strategy considered at the 11 
October 2022 meeting were forwarded to the Safer Durham Partnership.  
 
Overview  and Scrutiny Officer informed the Committee that following questions 
raised at Committee on 3 November on the effect of Covid on domestic abuse 
referrals, trends and profiles of domestic abuse victims and details of White Ribbon 
Day, further information had been circulated on 24 November 2022.    
 

4 Declarations of Interest, if any  
 
No declarations of interest were made. 
 

5 Any items from Co-opted Members or Interested Parties  
 
No items were raised. 
 

6 Exploitation - Children and Adults  
 
The Committee considered a report of the Corporate Director of Resources, which 
provided the Committee with background information in advance of a presentation 
from Durham Constabulary on child and adult exploitation (for copy see file of 
Minutes). 
 
Detective Chief Inspector Lee Blakelock and Detective Superintendent Nicola 
Lawrence gave a detailed presentation which provided Members with an overview 
of child and adult exploitation with a focus on:  
 

 Contextual Safeguarding  

 Child Exploitation Vulnerability Tracker (CEVT)  

 Multi Agency Approach  

 Governance 

 Analysis  

 
Members were informed that there was a dedicated team who had access to both 
Durham County Council and Police records, who were able to provide updates 
every 48-72 hours into one central system. It was noted that some individuals had 

Page 4



taken advantage of children due to the cost of living crisis which had led to an 
increase in child exploitation.  
 
Councillor Craig Martin joined the Meeting at 9.38 am.  
 
It was brought to Members attention that an increase in the trend of cuckooing had 
been noticed, with organised crime involved in preying on the vulnerable and 
elderly in these difficult times. It was added that Neighbourhood Police officers were 
very aware of this activity. Members were made aware that a lot of crime was linked 
with County Lines activity trying to expand the reach of their operations.  
 
Members were informed that heightened awareness around harm occurring to 
children away from the home after 3pm was important with a need to know where 
children were. Training on contextual safeguarding and the vulnerability of isolated 
children had been provided by Professor Carlene Firmin MBE.  
 
Members were informed that the CEVT was a system that used indicators from 
multiple agencies which included:  
 

 Police 

 Youth Offending Services 

 Barnardos  

 Children’s Services 

 Drugs and Alcohol Services 

 Education  

 
The CEVT could provide cases with a score to indicate what action was required 
using a traffic light system. Members were informed of the Operational Child 
Exploitation Group (CEG), which had a focus on the highest risk cases across 
Durham and Darlington.   
 
Members were presented with a breakdown of sexual offences against children for 
April and May 2022 and the child exploitation vulnerability tracker.  
 
It was noted that the Independent Inquiry into Child Sexual Abuse (IICSA) had now 
been completed and the final report published. The key points raised from this 
report was the noted exploitation of children from gangs in southern parts of the 
Country, and the required education around victim blaming language. The aim for 
Durham was to continue the work of the action plan using Multi-Agency Public 
Protection Arrangements (MAPPA) principles to provide the effective help that  
vulnerable people needed.  
 
It was noted that following the pandemic there had been an increase in the number 
of empty buildings throughout the County which were now being used by gangs for 
criminal activity.   
 

Page 5



Councillor Jake Miller agreed that there were a lot of buildings throughout the 
County that were empty and attracted anti-social behaviour as well as other 
activities. Councillor Miller drew the Committees attention to page 27 and raised 
concerns over the particular high figure for both the south and east areas and 
enquired what was being done to tackle these areas.  
 
The Detective Superintendent informed the Committee that both areas were large 
areas within the County so would always have higher numbers in comparison, and 
added that the figures could include interfamilial abuse noting a rise in abuse 
between parents and siblings, but confirmed that action would always be taken to 
try and prevent abuse.  
 
The Detective Chief Inspector advised that assault was more prominent in the 
south and the east of the County and informed Members that abuse was often 
repetitive and reported historically. It was commented that COVID had not impacted 
on the figures.  
 
Councillor Mike McGaun thanked both officers for their presentation and enquired 
what the threshold was for intervention on cuckooing, and what methods of 
communication were available to communities to report activity around empty 
buildings.   
 
In response to questions from Councillor McGaun, the Detective Superintendent 
informed the Committee that the Crime Stoppers phone line was an effective 
method, with action taken against any reports the phone line receives, adding that 
Police Community Support Officers (PCSO) were another source. The Detective 
Superintendent confirmed that any report of potential cuckooing would be actioned 
immediately and would need to be investigated to make sure it was genuine.  
 
Councillor Joe Quinn enquired about modern day slavery and what methods were 
used to check if someone was a victim or just purporting to be one.  
 
The Detective Superintendent noted it was the job of the investigation to determine 
if people were there of free will with stringent questioning, by checking things such 
as phone records, access to papers and records and how freely they were moving 
in and out of the empty buildings.    
 
Detective Chief Inspector added that it was a challenge with a continually moving 
landscape noting that the Police were alive to the fact people lie. 
 
Councillor Veronica Andrews noted how difficult it could be to notice illicit behaviour 
citing an incident in her area which had gone undetected.  
 
The Detective Superintendent informed the Committee that these types of incidents 
highlighted a need for enforcement checks. He explained that the natural curiosity 
of people would sometimes lead to acts being detected and that in some cases 
landlords would be contacted if there was a suspicion of activity.  
 

Page 6



Resolved 
 
The content of the report and presentation be noted.  
 

7 Community Protection Update  
 
The Committee considered a report of the Corporate Director of Neighbourhoods 
and Climate Change, which provided the Committee with Background information 
on enforcement and intervention activity by the Council’s Public Protection Service 
(for copy see file of Minutes). 
 
The Public Protection Manager, Owen Cleugh gave a detailed presentation which 
provided Members with an Overview for Comment on activities of the Licensing 
Neighbourhood Interventions, Trading Standards and Safer Communities teams 
within the Public Protection Service with a focus on: 
 

 Business Compliance  

 The Special Investigations Team 

 Licensing  

 Nuisance Action Team 

 Community Action Team  

 Anti-Social Interventions Team  

 Safer Communities  

 
The Public Protection Manager gave a detailed breakdown and outlined the issues 
faced by each team, highlighting the work being done around illicit tobacco, 
counterfeit clothing, footwear and sports memorabilia for the Special Investigations 
Team. He advised that Taxi Licensing was still the biggest issue facing the 
Licensing Team and informed Members that there had been 300 vehicle 
suspensions. The Public Protection Manager praised the work of the Community 
Action Team and noted the rise in complaints being handled by the team. He gave 
an example where the team had recently discovered a cannabis farm in a 
household with 22 dogs demonstrating the benefits of team walkabouts. He further 
advised that the Anti-Social Interventions Team had doubled enforcement over the 
past seven months to deal with a range of nuisances.  
 
Councillor Jake Miller questioned the connective thinking between departments 
citing a recent incident in his ward of Wheatley Hill, where a business was 
proposing to apply shutters to its windows which was recommended by one team 
but was refused planning permission. Councillor Miller also questioned the inclusion 
of planning in walkabouts.  
 
In response to questions from Councillor Miller, the Public Protection Manager 
informed the Committee that the team liaised with other internal departments but 
explained that they were limited in regard to decision making.  He agreed to speak 
with the planning department on this issue.  
 

Page 7



 
Resolved  
 
The content of the report and presentation be noted.  
 

8 Quarter Two 2022/23 Performance Management Report  
 
The Committee considered a report of the Corporate Director of Resources, which 
provided an overview of progress towards achieving the key outcomes of the 
council’s corporate performance framework and highlight key messages to inform 
strategic priorities and work programmes (for copy see file of Minutes). 
 
The Corporate Scrutiny & Strategy Manager, Tom Gorman, informed that the crime 
rate was now back to pre-Covid levels which was higher than the national average 
but lower than the regional, with a noted increase in theft. It was noted that overall 
there was a decrease in ASB adding that with the breakdown into three categories 
of Environmental, Nuisance and Personal there had been a noticeable increase in 
the latter two.  
 
The Corporate Scrutiny & Strategy Manager informed the Committee that the 
successful completion of rehabilitation for drug and alcohol abuse, was doing well 
against targets but was slightly short in regard to opiate use. Members attention 
was drawn to the road safety figures which were favourable in comparison to the 
prior year’s noting fatalities were down to four from last year’s eight and serious 
injury was down to 33 in comparison to 49 last year. 
 
Councillor Dan Nicholls queried the relevant figures for suicide noting that the 
figures did not look good.  
 
The Corporate Scrutiny & Strategy Manager noted that this area came under the 
remit of Adults, Wellbeing and Health but informed the Committee they were not 
favourable compared to other quarters, adding that there was a delay in obtaining 
the figures as there was always a wait for the coroners final verdict.  
 
The Chair queried how Landlords were approached in regards to signing up to the 
Selective Licensing Agreement.  
 
Corporate Scrutiny & Strategy Manager informed the Committee that a number of 
sources were used listing the examples of council tax, sale of properties and 
tenants applying for benefits.  
 
Resolved 
 
The content of the report be noted.    
 

9 Anti-Social Behaviour Strategic Group  
 

Page 8



The Committee considered a report of the Corporate Director of Neighbourhoods 
and Climate Change, which provided an update on the ongoing work of the Anti-
Social Behaviour (ASB) Strategic Group (for copy see file of Minutes). 
 
The Public Protection Manager gave a detailed presentation which provided the 
Committee with an update on the strategic group and thanked the Corporate 
Scrutiny and Strategy Manager for the work of his team in providing statistics for 
the ASB Dashboard. The Public Protection Manager also thanked Members for 
their response to the consultation.  
 
Councillor David Sutton-Lloyd commented on the positive progress that had already 
been made.  
 
Resolved  
 
The content of the report and presentation be noted.  
 

Page 9



This page is intentionally left blank



 
Safest People, Safest Places 
 
Safer, Stronger Communities Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
 
27 February 2023 
 
Community Risk Management Plan (CRMP), formerly known as 
Integrated Risk Management Plan, Annual Consultation 
 
Report of Steve Helps, Chief Fire Officer 
 
Purpose of the Report 
 
1. To provide the Safer, Stronger Communities Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

with background to the Fire Authority’s CRMP annual action plan for 2023-2026. 
The Committee will be provided with a presentation setting out details of the plan 
and consultation process. 

 
Background 
 
2. The Fire and Rescue Services Act 2004 requires the Secretary of State to prepare 

a Fire and Rescue National Framework. The Framework sets out priorities and 
objectives for fire and rescue authorities who must have regard to the Framework 
in carrying out their duties. 

 
3. The Fire and Rescue Service National Framework document places a 

responsibility on all fire and rescue authorities to produce and consult on an 
Integrated Risk Management Plan. The Service uses the CRMP title to align the 
document with the recommendations from the National Fire Chiefs’ Council 
(NFCC). The Framework directs fire and rescue authorities to: 

 

 be accountable to communities for the service they provide; 

 identify and assess the full range of foreseeable fire and rescue related risks 
their areas face; 

 make appropriate provision for fire prevention and protection activities and the 
response to fire and rescue related incidents;  

 develop and maintain a workforce that is professional, resilient, skilled, flexible 
and diverse; 

 collaborate with emergency services and other local and national partners to 
increase the efficiency and effectiveness of the service they provide. 

 

 

Page 11

Agenda Item 6



4. Specifically, the National Framework states that we have a statutory responsibility 
to include a number of areas within the CRMP. These duties are summarised 
below:  
  

 Reflect up-to-date risk analyses of all foreseeable fire and rescue related risks 
that could affect the area of the authority;  

 Demonstrate how prevention, protection and response activities will best be 
used to prevent fires and other incidents and mitigate the impact of identified 
risks on its communities;  

 Outline required service delivery outcomes including the allocation of resources 
for the mitigation of risks;  

 Set out its management strategy and risk-based programme for enforcing the 
provisions of the Regulatory Reform (Fire Safety) Order (RRO) 2005;  

 Cover at least a three-year time span and be reviewed and revised as often as 
is necessary;  

 Reflect effective consultation throughout its development and at all review 
stages with the community, its workforce and representative bodies and 
partners; and   

 Be easily accessible and publicly available. 
 
5. The Service’s CRMP is a three-year strategic plan. This is reviewed annually to 

assess the effectiveness of existing arrangements. Following this review an annual 
CRMP Action Plan is developed. 
 

CRMP Content 
 
6. The CRMP contains profile information regarding the Service area, performance 

data, governance arrangements and how the Service identifies, manages and 
responds to risk in County Durham and Darlington. 

 
7. Linking directly to the Community Risk Profile (CRP) and Station Plan, the CRMP 

sets out the key risks found and what proactive and reactive measures will be in 
place relating to each identified risk. 

 
8. Each of the main Strategies (Community Safety; Business Fire Safety; Emergency 

Response; Assets and Assurance; People, Collaboration) and the Medium-Term 
Financial Plan (MTFP) is directly referenced with regard to how they are affected 
by risk. 

 
9. We have included an overview of what we introduced following last year’s 

consultation together with the proposed options for Year 1, 2 and 3 of the 2023-
2026 CRMP period.  

 
10. In 2022-2023 we consulted on and delivered the following: 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 12



 
 
11. In 2022/23, the following options were also considered: 
 

11.1  Implement and evaluate the way we deliver Safe and Well Being Visits 

(now called Home Fire Safety Visits). 

11.1.1 Home fire safety visits (HFSVs) are the cornerstone of our prevention work to 

prevent fire, fire fatalities and serious injuries in the home, which is where the 

majority of fire fatalities occur. 

11.1.2 HFSVs have previously only been done in-person, however during the Covid-

19 pandemic telephone ‘visits’ were introduced to continue the education of our 

community. Review of these has identified opportunities for a self-help tool for 

members of the community. Using a recently developed online tool, through a 

partnership between the National Fire Chiefs Council (NFCC), Fire Kills and 

Safelincs, an online ‘Home Fire Safety Check tool’ is now live on our website. 

This easy-to-follow home fire safety check will take members of the public 

through their home one room at a time using simple questions to help identify 

fire risks. The tool will offer tips and advice on the steps members of the public 

can take to reduce those risks and they will receive a personalised fire safety 

action plan to help keep them and their household safe from fire. Higher risk 

members of the community will be offered a visit by one of our teams.  

11.1.3 We have reviewed and adapted our HFSV approach to align with the NFCC 

Person-Centred Framework which aims to mitigate and reduce fire risk whilst 

trying to change some of the riskier behaviours that may affect or increase 

exposure to increased fire risk. By being person centred the following 

characteristic are emphasised in our approach: 

 affording people dignity, respect and compassion 

 offering coordinated support with partners 

 offering personalised support 

We asked You said We did 

Do you agree with our 

proposal to introduce the 

following new response 

standards?  

• Attend Accidental Dwelling 

Fires within 8 minutes on 70% 

of occasions 

• Attend Non-Domestic Fires 

within 9 minutes on 70% of 

occasions 

• Attend Road Traffic Collisions 
within 10 minutes on 70% of 
occasions 

Yes We implemented the new 
standards from April 2022 and 
have measured our response 
times against them since this 
time. 

Page 13



 being enabling towards independent living. 

 

11.1.4 The NFCC Definition of Risk project, aims to deliver the UK Fire and Rescue 

Service a risk framework with an approach that supports the consistent 

identification, understanding and assessment of risk. This project has delivered 

new risk stratification model to identify those households at highest risk of: 

 

 Having an accidental dwelling fire 

 Being a casualty in an accidental dwelling fire, or 

 Being killed in an accidental dwelling fire  

 

11.1.5 The Service have aligned our targeting of HFSVs to this new risk stratification 

model with the aim of further reducing accidental dwelling fires and associated 

deaths or injuries.  

11.1.6 Our recent inspection by HMICFRS which analysed this enhanced approach to 

targeting recognised that our activity is “clearly prioritised using a risk-based 

approach towards people most at risk from fire and other emergencies.” Our 

level of HFSVs completed per 1,000 population, remains much higher than the 

England rate (7.6 home fire safety visits per 1,000 population compared to the 

England rate of 4.5). This activity continues to lead to strong performance for 

ADFs and associated injuries when compared year to year and benchmarked 

against other areas.  

11.1.7 The number of accidental dwelling fires and associated casualties in our area 

continues to reduce through our proactive prevention work whereby we attend 

over 18,000 households per year (in years unaffected by Covid-19) to conduct 

home fire safety visits (HFSVs). In 2021/22 we had our lowest ever number of 

accidental dwelling fires and despite high levels of deprivation across our area, 

which traditionally correlates to high levels of fires, the latest national figures for 

accidental dwelling fires per 100,000 population, highlight CDDFRS as the 

second-best performing FRS in England. 

11.2  Implement the outcome following the review of the Service’s attendance 

standards 

11.2.1 We implemented the new standards from April 2022 and have measured our 

response times against them since this time. 

11.3 Evaluate the benefits of our continued investment in Fire Safety within the 

built environment. 

11.3.1 We have continued to invest in staff training to ensure we comply with the 

Competency Framework for Fire Safety Regulators. From 1 April to 31 

December 2022, 20 further members of operational staff have become qualified 

Page 14



to Level 3 Certificate in Fire Safety. This now gives us a total of 66 operational 

staff either qualified to Level 3 Certificate or Level 4 Certificate in Fire Safety. 

11.3.2 We have continued to work with businesses to help them in their compliance 

with legislation and have taken enforcement action to ensure that people who 

work in and visit premises across County Durham and Darlington remain safe. 

11.3.3 We carried out 2,120 fire safety audits between April 2021 and March 2022, 

85% of which were completed by our operational crews. In 2022/23 we are 

again on target to deliver over 2,000 fire safety audits. These figures are more 

than three times the England rate for fire safety audits per 100 known premises. 

This productivity has been highlighted by HMICFRS in their recent inspection 

that they were “impressed with the service’s productivity rates” noting the high 

rate of FSAs – 6.1 per 100 known premises compared to the average England 

FRS rate of 1.7. 

11.3.4 Through the active targeting of our Risk Based Inspection Programme, we have 

seen an increase in the number of unsatisfactory audits and enforcement action 

taken. Between 1 April to 31 December 2022, 33% of all fire safety audits were 

unsatisfactory, which provides assurance that we are inspecting the right 

premises and making safety improvements.  

11.3.5 Staff have also undertaken a great deal of engagement work with businesses, 

including online seminars. In addition, we continue to reply to high numbers of 

business regulation consultations licensing applications. 

11.3.6 Our investment continues to result in decreasing numbers of fires within 

premises regulated by the Fire Safety Order. We have had no reported fire 

fatalities in business premises since 2013 and 79 casualties in the last 10 years. 

Despite our challenging demographics, the latest national figures for non-

domestic fires per 100,000 population, highlight CDDFRS as the third-best 

performing FRS in England. 

11.4  Implementing the outcomes of the review of the crewing arrangements of 

TRVs if the trials prove successful. 

11.4.1 Covid- 19 meant that trialling the use of our new TRVs was delayed. However, 

we have now been able to introduce them and gather data about their use. We 

recognise that locating and deploying TRVs help to maximise the availability of 

front line fire appliances, ensure appropriate resources are deployed based on 

risk and assist in the overall productivity of proactive prevention and protection 

activities. We will continue to explore the flexible use of TRVs based on risk and 

demand. 

11.5 Implement any changes suggested through collaboration projects 

undertaken with local FRS and key partners. 

Page 15



11.5.1  We have access to the Cleveland Fire Brigade command vehicle which has 

been used at incidents.  

11.5.2 The Police and Fire Collaboration Board has been re-established. 

11.5.3 We are key attendees of the North East Regional JESIP meeting. 

11.5.4 We share service premises at Darlington Fire Station with North East 

Ambulance Service (NEAS). 

11.5.6 Following the modernisation of Sedgefield station we now have shared facilities 

with NEAS on site. 

11.5.7 We now have shared administrative support with Cleveland Fire Brigade for 

maintenance of duties associated with the General Data Protection Regulations 

(GDPR). 

11.5.8 We are working with colleagues in neighbouring Fire and Rescue Services, the 

Local Authority, Police and Academics to reduce the opportunity and 

consequences of deliberate fires and antisocial behaviour 

 
Medium Term Financial Plan 

 
12. The Service faces the ongoing challenge of balancing our resources against the 

risks we face. We are under considerable financial pressures including a shortfall 
in council tax and business rates receipts due to the Covid19 pandemic together 
with cost pressures arising from rapidly increasing inflation which is resulting in 
demands for higher pay awards. The financial pressures faced by the Service are 
compounded by uncertainty surrounding the level of government funding from 
2024/25 onwards. 

 
13. In 2023/24 we are facing a shortfall in funding of almost £1m after taking account 

of a recent pay offer to firefighters which exceeds the sum included in the budget. 
This means it will be necessary to draw down a further £1m from our already limited 
reserves, in the absence of making any changes to the service. 

 

14. The options we have implemented from our previous CRMP have meant that we 
have saved in excess of £750,000. However the cost pressures we now face, with 
particular regard to inflation related cost and the pay demands on firefighters’ 
salaries, mean that the only realistic options available will involve the introduction 
of changes to the way in which we provide our 999 service to the public. 

 
Our Options 
 
15. The Service has a series of proposals to consider over the next three years: 
 
15.1 In 2023/24 the following options will be considered: 

 

Page 16



 Review the proposal to crew all of our Wholetime fire engines with four 

firefighters. 

 Review the Risk Based Inspection Programme 

 Monitor and review the Service’s response standards. 

 Evaluate the staffing arrangements and application of Targeted Response 

Vehicles (TRVs). 

 Evaluate the changes through collaboration projects with local FRS and key 

partners. 

 
15.2 In 2024/25 the following options will be considered: 
 

 Monitor the crewing of Wholetime fire engines. 

 Implement the findings following the review of the Risk Based Inspection 

Programme. 

 Monitor the staffing arrangements and application of TRVs. 

 Continue to explore opportunities and monitor changes introduced through 

collaboration projects. 

 
15.3 In 2025/26 the following options will be considered: 

 Review the newly implemented Service Risk-Based Inspection Programme 

 Evaluate the changes through collaboration projects with local FRS and key 
partners 

 
Consultation 
 
16. The consultation on the 2023/24 proposals will begin on 16 February 2023 and will 

run for 12 weeks. In order to ensure that a wide range of views can be gathered 
the Governance and Communications Teams will lead on disseminating a 
consultation document containing the specific questions regarding the future plans 
of the Service. The consultation questions are set out at paragraph 18 of this report. 
 

17. This will include making the CRMP available on the CDDFRS website; organising 
community events to discuss the plan with the public; liaising with politicians and 
other local community leaders to disseminate the consultation document and using 
social media to promote it. We will attend public meetings organised through the 
Local Authorities. There will be an online survey that people can complete and a 
paper booklet to support this. 

 
 

Consultation Questions 
 
 
18. The Combined Fire Authority (CFA) considered and approved the following 

questions to be put to the public for the 2023/24 Consultation: 

 

Q1. We propose to crew all of our Wholetime fire engines with four firefighters. 

Do you agree with this proposal? 

Page 17



Q2. We propose to review the Risk Based Inspection Programme for business 

premises to ensure our proactive protection and enforcement activities are 

aligned to identified risks, to maintain the reduction of non-domestic fires and 

ensure the continued safety, from fire, of employees and visitors to these 

premises.  

Do you agree with this proposal? 

Q3. Do you have any overall comments about our Community Risk 
Management Plan and approach to allocating our resources? 

 
Recommendations 
 
19. Members are requested to: 

 
(i) Consider and note the content of the CRMP action plan and 

consultation which will be presented at the meeting. 
 
 

Contact:  Alison Baxter, Policy Support Officer 
                     County Durham & Darlington Fire and Rescue Service  
  
Tel:   0191 3755571  E-mail: alison.baxter@ddfire.gov.uk 

 

Page 18



County Durham and Darlington 
Fire and Rescue Authority

Community Risk Management 
Plan 2023-2026

P
age 19



About Us
• We serve approx. 640,000 people 

across an area of 939 square miles

• We protect 302,500 households and 
19,700 businesses

• We have 15 fire stations

• We have 310 Wholetime firefighters, 
168 On Call Firefighters, 18 Fire 
Control Operators and 98 Support 
Staff in HQ, Training and Technical 
Services

P
age 20



Our Achievements
• In our most recent HMICFRS inspection we 

achieved Good in all three categories of 
effectiveness, efficiency and people.

• We won Fire and Rescue Service of the year 
at the Public Sector Transformation Awards 
in 2022

• We have an award winning apprenticeship 
programme

• We are leading the way in Firefighters’ safety 
with a state of the art decontamination facility 

P
age 21



Our Performance

• We have the fastest response times for a predominantly rural fire 
and rescue service

• We attend the 2nd lowest number of Accidental Dwelling Fires in 
England and the 3rd lowest number of fires in non domestic 
premises

• Last year we delivered 18,843 Home Fire Safety Visits, a rate of 
7.56 per 1,000 population (England rate is 4.47 per 1,000)

• Last year we delivered Fire Safety Audits, a rate of 6.12 per 100 
known premises England rate is 1.70 per 100)

P
age 22



Have Your Say

• We want to know 
what you think 
about our plans 

• From 16th February 2023 
to11th May 2023 you can take 
part in our consultation

• We will be gathering views 
from our communities both 
online and face to face

P
age 23



Have Your Say

What is a Community Risk 
Management Plan (CRMP)?

How do we know what risks 
our communities face?

How will we manage these 
risks to keep you safe?

P
age 24



Have Your Say 

• We want to know 
what you think 
about our plans 

Why do we consult?

We plan how to tackle the risks 
our communities face every 
year.
Our plans include deciding 
where and how to use our 
resources.
It is important to us to take into 
account what you think about 
the impact of any changes.

P
age 25



Have Your 
Say  Our Finances

The Medium Term Financial Plan

• Current  MTFP  covers  2023/24 to  2026/27 
and  shows  we  have  a  potential  shortfall  of 
£1million.

• Financial  pressures  mean  we  will  have  to 
look  at  different  ways  of  delivering  our 
services

• The  MTFP  was  approved  by  the  CFA  in 
February 2023

P
age 26



Consultation question from 2022
We asked Public Said We did
Question 1
Do you agree with our proposal to 
introduce the following new response 
standards? 

• Attend Accidental Dwelling Fires 
within 8 minutes on 70% of occasions

• Attend Non-Domestic Fires within 9 
minutes on 70% of occasions

• Attend Road Traffic Collisions within 
10 minutes on 70% of occasions

We implemented the new standards from April 2022 and have 
measured our response times against them since this time.

P
age 27



Crewing our fire 
appliances

Emergency 
Response
- Our Options

• Four Firefighters have 
crewed the majority of our 
full time fire engines since 
2019

• Including our On Call crews, 
our fire engines are crewed 
with four Firefighters 81% of 
the time during the day, 
increasing to 88% at night

• This option will save 
£750,000 per year

• Our neighbouring services 
all crew fire engines with 
four Firefighters

• Importantly this options 
does not remove any fire 
engines or reduce our 
current response times

P
age 28



Have Your Say 
2023
Question 1

Emergency 
Response

We propose to crew all of 
our Wholetime fire engines 
with four firefighters. Do you 
agree with this proposal?

P
age 29



Risk Based 
Inspection 
Programme

Business Fire 
Safety – Our 
Options

 

• HMICFRS recommend a 
national model for 
defining high risk 
premises

• To help us implement 
this model we will review 
our current approach

• Makes sure the way we 
inspect business 
premises is supported by 
the most accurate data

• Helps identify which 
premises are high risk

P
age 30



Have Your Say 
2023
Question 2

Business Fire 
Safety

We propose to review the Risk Based 
Inspection Programme for business 
premises to ensure our proactive 
protection and enforcement activities 
are aligned to identified risks, to 
maintain the reduction of non-domestic 
fires and ensure the continued safety, 
from fire, of employees and visitors to 
these premises. 

Do you agree with this proposal?

P
age 31



Have Your Say 
2023
Question 3

Community Risk 
Management 
Plan

You can read the full 
Plan and our 
Community Risk Profile 
at:
https://www.ddfire.gov.
uk/service-plans

Do you have any 
overall comments 
about our CRMP and 
approach to allocating 
our resources?

P
age 32

https://www.ddfire.gov.uk/service-plans
https://www.ddfire.gov.uk/service-plans


Have Your Say  

How do I share 
my views?

• Visit our website and fill in our online 
survey www.cddfrs.gov.uk

• Check out our twitter feed 
@CDDFRS and look for our survey 
link

• Take a look at our Facebook page @ 
County Durham and Darlington Fire 
and Rescue Service and follow the 
link to our survey

P
age 33

http://www.cddfrs.gov.uk/


Thank You

Any questions?

P
age 34



 

             

       

 Safer and Stronger Communities 

Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

 27 February 2023 

 Probation Service  

 

Report of Paul Darby, Corporate Director of Resources  

Electoral division(s) affected: 

Countywide  

Purpose of the Report 

1 To provide the Safer and Stronger Communities Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee with background information in advance of a presentation on 
probation services in County Durham. 

Executive summary 

2 The presentation attached in Appendix 2 provides members with an 
update on delivery of probation services within County Durham 
following on from the last report which focussed on the transition to one 
probation service in June 2021. 

Recommendation 

3 Members of the Committee are asked to note information contained 
within the presentation and comment accordingly.  

  

 

Page 35

Agenda Item 7



Background 

4 The Committee agreed its work programme in June 2022 and agreed to 
include an item on the probation service. It builds on previous reports to 
the SSC OSC which have detailed changes to delivery of probation 
services to the now one national service. 

5 Karen Blackburn, Head of County Durham and Darlington Probation 
Service will be in attendance to deliver the presentation attached at 
Appendix 2. 

Main implications 

Crime and Disorder   

6 Information with this report aims to contribute to reducing re-offending.  

Background papers 

  None 

Other useful documents 

 None 

Contact: Clare Luery Tel:  03000 265978 

   

  

Page 36



   

Appendix 1:  Implications 

Legal Implications 

None. 

Finance 

None 

Consultation 

None 

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty 

None. 

Human Rights 

None. 

Climate Change 

None. 

Crime and Disorder 

Information with this report aims to contribute to objectives in the Safe Durham 

Partnership Plan to reducing crime and disorder.    

Staffing 

None. 

Accommodation 

None. 

Risk 

None. 

Procurement 

None. 

Page 37



This page is intentionally left blank



Karen Blackburn 
Head of County Durham & Darlington
27 February 2023

 Probation Service North East:
Update to Durham County 
Council Safer & Stronger 
Communities Overview & 

Scrutiny  Committee

P
age 39



ØLast OSC update April 2022 

ØHM Prison & Probation Service

ØProbation delivery in County 
Durham (and Darlington)

INTRODUCTIONP
age 40



v National Service
v Regional Structure
v Local Delivery

Vision: working together to protect the public 
and help people lead law-abiding lives

Values: organisational beliefs about what is right 
and important, forming the basis of trust we hold 
with society, partners, stakeholders and people 
coming through our doors…

HM Prisons and Probation Service

P
age 41



NATIONAL: HMPPS Principles, Outcomes, Standards… 

P
age 42



Regional Head of 
Interventions

Regional Head of 
Corporate 
Services

Regional Head of 
Performance 

& Quality

Regional Head of 
Community 
Integration

REGIONAL – Probation Service North East

Regional Head of 
Operations

Head of 
Probation
Delivery

Unit

Regional 
Head of 
Public

Protection

Sentence
Management 
Community
& Custody

Victims

MAPPA
Prisons

Polygraph
Psychologist

Courts & 
Enforcement

Regional 
Head of 

Programmes

Regional
Head of 
Unpaid 

Work

Accredited
Programmes

Structured
Interventions

Attendance
Centres

Unpaid 
Work

Commissioning
& Partnerships

Commissioned
Rehabilitative

Services 
Contract 

Management

Service User
Involvement

Performance

Quality

Serious Further
Offences &
Complaints

Staffing*

Engagement &
Communications

Information
Assurance

Equalities

ICT Training*

Regional Probation 
Director 

P
age 43

https://justiceuk.sharepoint.com/:p:/s/NPSNorthEastRegion/EYWtCFvSmSZCqutxT0__KDQBfgfooinnjrHLeWlcAI6FIQ?e=8wKi3b
https://justiceuk.sharepoint.com/:p:/s/NPSNorthEastRegion/EYWtCFvSmSZCqutxT0__KDQBfgfooinnjrHLeWlcAI6FIQ?e=8wKi3b
https://justiceuk.sharepoint.com/:p:/s/NPSNorthEastRegion/EYWtCFvSmSZCqutxT0__KDQBfgfooinnjrHLeWlcAI6FIQ?e=8wKi3b
https://justiceuk.sharepoint.com/:p:/s/NPSNorthEastRegion/EYWtCFvSmSZCqutxT0__KDQBfgfooinnjrHLeWlcAI6FIQ?e=8wKi3b
https://justiceuk.sharepoint.com/:p:/s/NPSNorthEastRegion/EXpQMnHuSj9Ovvoe36Y0DdwBRDxlBO2puyt0wRyX1f95-A?e=GbWaWW
https://justiceuk.sharepoint.com/:p:/s/NPSNorthEastRegion/EXpQMnHuSj9Ovvoe36Y0DdwBRDxlBO2puyt0wRyX1f95-A?e=GbWaWW
https://justiceuk.sharepoint.com/:p:/s/NPSNorthEastRegion/EYWy6jJ8JexAnX3veAHOaXQBgXWNmh5h-AFhYakebCz5PA?e=YjnOqa


LOCAL:  Office Locations / Hub LocationsP
age 44



HUB Locations 

Durham Hub
North Road Methodist 

Church 
North Road

Durham
DH1 4SG

Peterlee Hub
St Cuthbert's Community Hall 

Manor Way 
Peterlee 

SR8 5QW

West Auckland Hub
Memorial Hall

Darlington Road
West Auckland

Bishop Auckland
DL14 9HT

P
age 45



Ingeus HUBS

Darlington
Enterprise House

Suite 2D, Valley Street North
DL1 1GY

Durham
Alington House Community

Association
4 N Bailey
DH1 3ET

P
age 46



Initial Appointment - Community Sentence 
Initial Appointment – Release from Custody

Initial Sentence Plans 
Monthly Appointments Offered 

Part B – Recall Report Timeliness 
Targeted Interventions for Sexual Offenders

Requirements Completed by Sentence Expiry 
Housed on Release

Settled Accommodation at 3m Post Release
Settled Accommodation at 3m Community Order / Suspended Sentence Order

Employment at 6 weeks Post Release
Employment at 6 months for Prison Leavers

Employment at 6 months for Community Order / Suspended Sentence Orders
Prison Offender Manager / Community Offender Manager Handover Meeting 

Unpaid Work Assessments
Unpaid Work Starts

Unpaid Work Stand Downs
Unpaid Work Completions Within 12 months

Accredited Programme Starts 
Accredited Programme Completions 
Recording Protected Characteristics 

Performance Metrics:

P
age 47



Ø Caseload approx 2,500 community/custodial cases
Ø Key drivers for offending:

County Durham & Darlington Offender Needs Profile

ASSESSED CRIME RELATED NEEDS – From OASys (Offender Assessment System)

THINKING & BEHAVIOUR

ATTITUDES

LIFESTYLE & ASSOCIATES

RELATIONSHIPS

EMOTIONAL WELLBEING

ALCOHOL

DRUGS

ACCOMMODATION

FINANCE

EMPLOYMENT, EDUCATION & TRAINING

P
age 48



q Community Rehabilitations Services:
Ø Education Training and Employment – INGEUS

Ø Accommodation – THIRTEEN
Ø Personal Wellbeing – ST GILES WISE GROUP

Ø Women – ST GILES WISE GROUP
Ø Dependency and Recovery – INGEUS

q Finance Benefit and Debt – ST GILES WISE GROUP

q Restorative Justice – VCAS, PCC’s Office 

q Regional Outcomes and Innovation Fund (ROIF):
Ø 700 Club 
Ø FREE Programme 

Probation (NE) Commissioned Services:

P
age 49



Ø People

ØProcesses

ØPartnerships

ProgressP
age 50



Karen Blackburn
Framwell House, Diamond Terrace
Framwellgate Peth
Durham City
DH1 5SU
Tel 0191 3362208
karen.blackburn@justice.gov.uk
Diary Manager: Emily Read
emily.read@justice.gov.uk

Any Questions?

P
age 51

mailto:karen.blackburn@justice.gov.uk


T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

             

        

 Safer & Stronger Communities 

Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

 27 February 2023 

 County Durham Youth Justice Service – 

Overview, Performance, Service 

Developments and Improvement Plan 

2022/23 

  

Report of: 

John Pearce, Corporate Director, Children & Young People’s 
Services 

Councillor Ted Henderson, Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Children & 
Young People’s Services 

 

Electoral division(s) affected: 

Countywide 

Purpose of the Report 

1 This report presents an overview of the Youth Justice Service, including 
the latest Service/Partnership performance.  It highlights key 
achievements during the previous year, along with areas for 
improvement and development which the service will be focussed upon 
during the next year.  

Executive Summary 

2 Youth Offending Services (referred to as Youth Justice Service in 
Durham) are statutory partnerships, established under the Crime and 
Disorder Act 1998, with the principal aim of preventing offending by 
children and young people. Local Authorities are responsible for 
establishing a ‘Youth Offending Team’.   The Local Authority, Police, 
Probation Service (PS) and Integrated Care Boards (ICB) are statutorily 
required to assist in their funding and operation (through the 
secondment of staff).  In Durham, additional, non-statutory, 
funding/support is provided by the Police & Crime Commissioner and 
Public Health. 

 

 

Page 53

Agenda Item 8



3 The Youth Justice Service supervises those young people whom the 
police have decided to deal with ‘formally’, either by means of an out-of-
court disposal or by charging the young person to court. The role of the 
Youth Justice Service is to: 

 Assess the suitability of, and provide relevant interventions for, 
young people receiving an ‘Out-of-Court Disposal’ (Pre-Caution 
Disposal, Youth Caution & Conditional Caution) 

 Case-manage young people remanded on bail and in custody 
whilst awaiting court hearings 

 Advise the court on sentencing 

 Assess all young people sentenced by the court, manage the 
sentence and provide relevant interventions to prevent offending 

 Provide support to the families of young people who offend 

 Support all victims (young and adult) of youth crime and support 
young victims of all crime. 

4 Key points about our current performance show that there were 
continued falls in first time entrants to the youth justice system and a 
low level for use of custody. The latest reoffending rate for young 
people (those who reoffend within 12 months of their last 
caution/sentence) shows Durham to be lower than the north east 
average and on a par with the national average. 

5 As well as the performance covered above, during 2022 key 
achievements were: 

 Working with 142 victims in restorative approaches 

 Young people who offend undertaking 1,247 hours of unpaid 
work in communities 

 Supporting 52 young victims of crime 

 Supporting 32 parents of young people who offend  

 Working with 52 community volunteers to provide support and 
mentoring for young people and families 

6 Service improvement priorities for 2023 are: 

(a) Further improving the interventions we complete with young 
people and the quality of our assessments and intervention plans; 

Page 54



(b) Targeting our resources on those young people committing the 
most offences; 

(c) Ensuring we listen and respond to what young people and their 
families are telling us; 

(d) Continue to improve our service to victims – both adults and 
young people; 

(e) Ensuring volunteering, by both adults and young people, is a key 
component of the work we undertake with young people and 
victims; 

(f) Ensuring that case management systems and administration 
support provide the highest quality support to staff and managers 
in the delivery of services to courts, communities and young 
people. 

7 During August 2022, the Service received its full inspection by HMI 
Probation, the final report being published in November 2022. The 
overall rating for the Service was ‘Requires Improvement’. Whilst this is 
a disappointing outcome, the inspection also highlighted ‘outstanding’ 
work with young people who present a high risk of harm and those in 
custody and ‘good’ work with young people in court. Feedback collected 
by HMI Probation from young people, families, victims, Magistrates, 
volunteers and partner services was entirely positive about the service. 
Key areas for improvement were in respect of our work with young 
people dealt with ‘out of-court’, particularly our assessments of risk and 
need. We have produced an Inspection Improvement Plan (in addition 
to the Service Improvement Plan noted above) following the 
recommendations in the inspection report. At the time of writing, we are 
awaiting approval of the plan by HMI Probation. 

8 HMI Probation have included a section on our work in Durham with 
young people in custody and resettlement after custody in their effective 
practice guide which was published on 13 February 2023. 

9 A key development for 2023 is the Ministry of Justice (MoJ) funded 
Turnaround programme. County Durham will receive £190,000 per 
year, for the next two years, to improve the quality of our work with 
young people who receive an out-of-court disposal (currently referred to 
as the Pre-Caution Disposal in Durham). The process we have 
operated in Durham for a number of years, was used by the MoJ as an 
example of the type of programme they were encouraging other 
services to develop. Therefore, we are well-placed in Durham to 
operate this programme. We will be using the funding to develop 
greater links with the One Point Service, and other early help services, 
to ensure that we are able to intervene earlier with young people 

Page 55



coming to the attention of the police for the first times and work with the 
whole family, including siblings. 

 

Recommendation(s) 

10 The Safer & Stronger Communities Overview and Scrutiny Committee is 

requested to: 

(i) Note and comment on the contents of this report and the work of 

the service  

 

Background 

10 County Durham Youth Justice Service (CDYJS), a statutory multi-
agency partnership, is part of Children and Young People’s Services, 
Durham County Council, and is managed by them on behalf of the 
partnership. Active links are maintained at both strategic and 
operational level to Criminal Justice, Community Safety and Children, 
Young People and Families arenas. 

11 CDYJS is accountable to a multi-agency Management Board, chaired 
by the Head of Early Help, Inclusion and Vulnerable Children, Durham 
County Council. The membership and terms of reference of the 
Management Board are reviewed annually.  Membership is at 
appropriate Senior Officer level.  

12 CDYJS is line-managed, on behalf of the partnership, by Durham 
County Council. The Service is part of Early Help, Inclusion and 
Vulnerable Children Service (EHIVCS).  

13 40 staff are employed by Durham County Council on behalf of the 
partnership and 12 full time equivalent staff are seconded/deployed 
from partners (Durham Constabulary, National Probation Service, North 
Tees and Hartlepool NHS Foundation Trust (NTHFT), Harrogate and 
District NHS Foundation Trust (HDFT), Tees Esk and Wear Valleys 
Mental Health Trust (TEWV) and Humankind. In addition, there are 52 
community volunteers working with the service. 

Current Performance Report:  

(a) Performance against National Outcome Measures 

 First Time Entrants to the Youth Justice System (FTEs): 
  

Page 56



The latest reported rate of FTEs per 100,000 10-17 years 
population in County Durham is 113, a 35% reduction on the 
previous year.   
 
This is a further reduction from the previous year and is 
significantly lower than both the national and North East 
regional rates.   

 

 Re-offending 
 

Latest Ministry of Justice (MoJ) data shows a re-offending rate 
of 33.9%. This is a reduction of 8 percentage points from the 
previous year performance. 
 
This rate is lower than the regional rate and on a par with the 
national rate. 
 

 Use of Custody 
 
Custodial Sentences:  
 
The rate of young people receiving a custodial sentence, per 
1,000 10-17 years is 0.13, a reduction of 50% on the previous 
year.  This is on a par with both the National and North East 
with rates. On each occasion a young person is sentenced to 
custody, the work of CDYJS is reviewed to ensure all 
appropriate work was undertaken. 
 
 
Remand Bed Nights: 89 
 
The bed nights refer to just 5 young people who all, ultimately, 
received a custodial sentence. 
 

 Work with Victims, including Young Victims: 
 
During 2022, our work with the victims of youth crime has 
engaged 142 victims in restorative approaches.  Our work with 
young people who are the victims of youth crime has provided 
dedicated support and an opportunity to re-build and restore 
confidence.  The support group for young victims of all crime 
(‘With Youth in Mind’) has continued to develop and is now 
working with an average of 35 young people at any one time 
throughout the year (annual total of 52 young people). Young 
people who offend have also engaged in 1,247 hours of unpaid 
work in and across communities in County Durham as a 

Page 57



means of reparation. Items made by young people as part of 
reparation has benefitted a number of charities, including the 
Royal British Legion, Autism Awareness and local care homes. 

 
 

The Voice of Young People, Families, Victims & Communities 
 
13 CDYJS ensures that the views of young people, families, victims and 

communities continue to shape the things we do by: 

 A structured process of feedback, for all groups, on the services we 

deliver 

 A Service consultation group of young people who are victims of crime 

 Structured feedback and support for community volunteers 

 Community volunteer oversight of the work of the Service 

 Elected Member discussions with the portfolio holder and presentation 

of reports to full County Council and Scrutiny  

14 As a result of this work (and evidence that consultation has led to 

changes in the way we work), the Service has achieved national awards 

for our work with parents and our work with young victims. We have 

also been awarded ‘quality marks’ for ‘Investing in Children’ and 

‘Investing in Volunteers’. 

______________________________________________________________ 

Contact:  Dave Summers, YJS Manager   Tel: 03000 265999 

_________________________________________________________  

Page 58



______________________________________________________________ 

Appendix 1: Implications 

______________________________________________________________ 

Legal Implications: 

Statutory requirements placed on CDYJS and the Management Board include; 

complying with the statutory requirements laid out in s.38 to 40 of the Crime 

and Disorder Act 1998, and other relevant sections of the Act; complying with 

National Standards for Youth Justice (including returning the annual National 

Standards audit); submitting required data to the YJB in adherence with the 

relevant YJB data recording guidance and approving the annual Youth Justice 

Plan.  

Finance: 

CDYJS budget comprises partnership funding, YJB funding and specific grant 

funding. The budget allocation is reviewed annually by CDYJS Management 

Board and all partners (Police, Probation, Health (ICB) and Local Authority) 

agree funding contributions for the following year. Under the terms of the 

Crime & Disorder Act 1998; DCC, Durham Constabulary, the Probation 

Service and ICB are required to both contribute staff and provide funding for a 

pooled budget for operating costs. 

Consultation: 

CDYJS Management Board, partners, staff, young people, parents/carers, 

victims and communities are regularly consulted.  

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty: 

CDYJS is committed to meeting the needs of the young people, families and 

victims with whom we work. All staff have undertaken specialist diversity 

training for youth offending, speech, language and communication needs 

training and, in addition, case managers have undertaken specialist diversity 

training for assessments. Diversity issues are a specific category on the 

checklist used by managers to countersign assessments and intervention 

plans. 

 

Climate Change: 

None.  

Page 59



Human Rights: 

Not applicable. 

Crime and Disorder: 

The statutory function of CDYJS partnership is the prevention of offending by 

children and young people (Crime and Disorder Act 1998).  

Staffing: 

None 

Accommodation: 

All managers and staff in CDYJS have their main base in DCC, Crook. 

Risk: 

None 

Procurement: 

Not applicable. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 60



County Durham Youth Justice 
Service – Performance and 
Development Plans Update

Dave Summers – Youth Justice Service Manager 
27 February 2023

P
age 61



Performance

v Performance (National Measures)

v First Time Entrants Rate: 113

v Re-offending rate: 33.9%

v Custodial Sentences Rate: 0.13

v Remand Bed-Nights: 89 nights

P
age 62



Other Work:

v Victims: 142 (Adults & Young People)

v 1,247 hours reparation

v With Youth in Mind: 52 young people

P
age 63



HMI Probation: Inspection

• August 2022 (Report published: November 2022)
• Overall rating:  Requires Improvement
• Key area for improvement: Out-of-Court Disposals
• Young people in custody/High Risk of Harm: Outstanding
• Court sentences: Good
• Feedback: positive

P
age 64



Service & Inspection Improvement Plan

• Inspection Improvement Plan

v Submitted to HMIP for approval

v Governance via CDYJS Management Board

• Other
v HMIP Good Practice Webinar & Guidance – Resettlement 

from Custody

P
age 65



Turnaround/Out-of-Court

vCounty Durham ‘exemplar’
vAdditional funding: Ministry of Justice
vFunding until March 2025
vDevelop links between ‘Early Help’ (One Point) and 

Youth Justice – specific programme requirements
vDeveloping between YJS, One Point & Police
v Interim programme: 1 January 2023
vFull programme: 1 April 2023

P
age 66



 

        

Safer & Stronger Communities 

Overview and Scrutiny Committee   

27 February 2023 

 ASB Strategy 2022-2025 

 For Information 

 

Report of Alan Patrickson, Corporate Director of Neighbourhoods 
and Climate Change, Durham County Council  

Electoral divisions affected: 

Countywide  

Purpose of the Report 

1 To advise the Safer and Stronger Communities Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee on the final draft ASB Strategy for County Durham.  

Executive summary 

2. Following the special meeting of the Safer and Stronger Communities 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee held on 11 October 2023 as part of the 
wider consultation exercise, it was agreed to present the final draft ASB 
Strategy agreed by the Safer Durham Partnership. 

3. Appendix 2 to this report provides the final draft ASB Strategy for 
information.  

Recommendation 

4 Members of the Safer and Stronger Communities Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee are asked to note the contents of this report for their information 
and agree to consider a further report on our outline delivery plan.  

  

Page 67

Agenda Item 9



 
Background 
  
5.  Section 6 of the Crime and Disorder Act 1998 requires the responsible 

authorities (commonly referred to collectively as a Community Safety 
Partnership (CSP)) in a local government area to work together in 
formulating and implementing strategies to tackle local crime and disorder 
in the area. In County Durham this is the Safe Durham Partnership. 

 
6. The vision of the SDP is that ‘Durham is a county where every adult and 

child will feel and be safe’. 
 

In order to achieve this vision, the SDP has six strategic priorities the 
following of which relate to ASB: 

 To support victims and protect vulnerable people from harm. 

 Reduce reoffending. 

 Promote being safe and feeling safe in your community. 
 
7. To ensure that the Safer Durham Partnership can meet its aims and 

objectives it was agreed that a new Anti-social Behaviour (ASB) Strategy 
was required so that all partners could agree as the approach for tackling 
ASB. 

 
8. The final draft ASB Strategy (Appendix 2) sets out its vision “Improving 

lives through tackling anti-social behaviour” and guiding principles on how 
we will work together to identify those issues that have the most impact on 
residents and visitors within County Durham. 

 
9. The ASB strategy provides a framework by which the SDP will work 

together to prevent and deal with ASB across County Durham whilst 
embracing the following 8 principles: 

 

 Working in Partnership  

 Champion the Victims’ Voice  

 Provide the Best Victim Support 

 Provide Victim Centric Community Trigger & Community Remedy 

Processes  

 Implement Preventative Measures  

 To make full use of the tools and powers 

 Maximise use of digital technologies 

 An inclusive approach 

 

10. The ASB Strategic Group will be responsible for taking forward the 

approach identified in the strategy and for developing and committing to a 

Page 68



delivery plan that will help realise the full potential of this strategic 

approach.  

 

11. Work will commence on the delivery plan over the coming months and it is 

proposed that this will be the subject of a future report to the Safer and 

Stronger Communities Overview and Scrutiny Committee in due course. 

Conclusion 

11 The development of the ASB Strategy has been led by a partnership group. 

12 The strategy has been aligned to the Durham Police, Crime and Victims 
Plan and Safe Durham Partnership Plan. 

13 The strategy is also aligned to the County Durham Vision 2035 and will 
be the delivery mechanism for some of the objectives which support the 
overall ambitions. 

 

Background papers 

 None 

Author 

Joanne Waller     03000 260924 

  

  

Page 69



 

Appendix 1:  Implications 

Legal Implications 

The Crime and Disorder Act 1998 requires Community Safety Partnerships 
(CSPs) consider crime and disorder as part of their functions. 

Finance 

Ongoing pressure on the public services will challenge all agencies to 
consider how best to ensure effective services are delivered in the most 
efficient way. Action plans will be developed to support the delivery of the 
strategy. 

Consultation 

Details of consultation are provided in the report. 

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty 

A full Equality Impact Assessment is being carried out alongside the strategy. 

Climate Change - There are no climate change implications. 

Human Rights - There are no adverse implications. 

Crime and Disorder 

Crime and disorder is the main focus of the report under the strategy. 

Staffing - There are no staffing implications. 

Accommodation - There are no accommodation implications. 

Risk - There are no risk implications. 

Procurement 

Commissioners will take account of the SDPP when procuring services 

aligned to community safety. 

 

 

 

Page 70



 

Appendix 2:  Draft ASB Strategy 2022 - 25 

 

Attached as a separate document 

 

 

Page 71



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

  
 

Safe Durham Partnership 

 

Anti-Social Behaviour 

Strategy 2022-25 
  

“Improving lives, through tackling anti-social behaviour” 

 

  

Page 73



 

1 
 

Contents 

Foreword ................................................................................................................ 3 

Introduction ............................................................................................................. 5 

Our Strategy ........................................................................................................... 5 

A Vision for County Durham 2019-2035 .............................................................. 5 

Safe Durham Partnership .................................................................................... 6 

THE EIGHT PRINCIPLES ................................................................................... 7 

Other key strategic documents............................................................................ 9 

Action Plan ............................................................................................................. 9 

Delivery and Measuring Outcomes ..................................................................... 9 

Approach to Wellbeing ...................................................................................... 11 

What is Anti-social Behaviour (ASB)..................................................................... 12 

Criminality and ASB .............................................................................................. 13 

What is not ASB.................................................................................................... 14 

Who deals with ASB? ........................................................................................... 14 

Local Authorities ................................................................................................ 15 

Neighbourhood Policing Teams ........................................................................ 15 

Registered Social Landlords ............................................................................. 15 

Private Rented Sector Landlords ...................................................................... 15 

The Local Context................................................................................................. 16 

What is the issue? ................................................................................................ 16 

Why is it important? .............................................................................................. 16 

How does it impact people? .................................................................................. 16 

ASB Data .............................................................................................................. 17 

Consultation .......................................................................................................... 18 

The Voice of our Communities ............................................................................. 18 

A Victim Centred Approach .................................................................................. 19 

Community Tension .............................................................................................. 19 

The Rural Community ........................................................................................... 20 

What is Rural Proofing? .................................................................................... 20 

The Business Community ..................................................................................... 20 

Young people ....................................................................................................... 21 

Social value and the Durham pound ..................................................................... 22 

Anti-social behaviour and Safeguarding ............................................................... 22 

Page 74



 

2 
 

The Tools and Powers .......................................................................................... 23 

Problem-oriented policing (POP) .......................................................................... 24 

Focus of the intervention ................................................................................... 24 

The OSARA model ............................................................................................ 24 

Community Trigger ............................................................................................... 24 

Community Remedy ............................................................................................. 25 

SWOT Analysis..................................................................................................... 25 

Case Studies ........................................................................................................ 27 

Multi-Agency problem Solving Meetings (MAPS) - Wheatley Hill dog track ...... 27 

Crime and Anti-social behaviour Risk Assessment Conference (CASBRAC) – 

Shotton Colliery ................................................................................................. 27 

Appendix 1. ........................................................................................................... 29 

Summary of relevant consultations. .................................................................. 29 

Appendix 2. ........................................................................................................... 36 

Further information on tools and powers. .......................................................... 36 

Appendix 3. ........................................................................................................... 38 

Further information on reporting ASB. ............................................................... 38 

 

  

Page 75



 

3 
 

Foreword 
The Safe Durham Partnership (SDP) is the community Safety Partnership for County 

Durham and was formed in 2009. Over the last 13 years it has had significant 

success in tackling crime and disorder through the underlying principles of working 

together. It is made up of responsible authorities: 

 Durham County Council 

 Durham Constabulary 

 County Durham & Darlington Fire and Rescue Service 

 Probation Service 

 North East and North Cumbria Integrated Care Board  

With extended Membership: 

 County Durham & Darlington NHS Foundation Trust 

 Tees, Esk and Wear Valleys NHS Foundation Trust 

 HMP Durham 

 Office of the Police and Crime Commissioner 

 Voluntary and Community Sector 

Further information can be found at https://countydurhampartnership.co.uk/safe-

durham-partnership/ 

The partnership was formed under a statutory requirement within the Crime and 

Disorder Act 1998 to tackle crime and disorder and the issues that most effect those 

living and working in County Durham.  

The Act placed a duty on the Police and Council to consider crime, disorder and 

community safety within all of their activities, policies, decisions and service 

provision. 

Further to this, powers to tackle anti-social behaviour were introduced through the 

Anti-social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014 (‘the 2014 Act’). The Home 

Office published a statutory guidance document for the act shortly after its 

implementation that can be accessed via the following link, Anti-social Behaviour, 

Crime and Policing Act: anti-social behaviour - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk). 

The aim of the guidance was to enable the effective use of these new powers and 

states that “these powers are local in nature, as those who work within, and for, local 

communities are best placed to understand what is driving the behaviour in question, 

the impact that it is having, and to determine the most appropriate response. This 

guidance is intended to assist the police, local authorities and other local agencies 

who exercise functions under the 2014 Act to respond to instances of anti-social 

behaviour in their local areas.”.  It placed joint responsibility on partners to use tools 

and powers and gave victims and communities a say through the community trigger 

and community remedy. The guidance has had several amendments over the years, 

the latest being in June 2022, to ensure that there was a greater focus on the impact 

of anti-social behaviour on victims and on their needs, to emphasise the need to 

Page 76

https://countydurhampartnership.co.uk/safe-durham-partnership/
https://countydurhampartnership.co.uk/safe-durham-partnership/


 

4 
 

ensure that relevant legal tests are met to trigger the use of the powers and expedite 

the implementation of Public Space Protection Orders. 

Anti-social behaviour can have a massive impact on those who are subjected to it 

which is why it has been identified as a work area within the priority ‘promote being 

safe and feeling safe in your community’ as part of the SDP Plan 21-25. 

Being and feeling safe both in our homes and within the wider community impacts on 

both our emotional and physical wellbeing. It also directly impacts on our personal 

resilience as well as impacting overall on a community’s resilience, confidence and 

cohesion.  

This document provides the strategic approach, guiding principles of the level of 

service and what we want our services to achieve for those experiencing anti-social 

behaviour in County Durham. 

 

  

Page 77



 

5 
 

Anti-social Behaviour Strategy 2022-2025 

Vision – “Improving lives, through tackling anti-

social behaviour” 

Introduction 
The Safe Durham Partnership recognises the cumulative impact that ASB can have 

upon the lives of individuals and communities and are committed to building upon 

the excellent partnership work already taking place across the County to tackle ASB. 

All partners understand and recognise the need to work collaboratively to achieve 

the common goal of preventing and tackling ASB so that local communities feel safe. 

This strategy sets out the guiding principles of how we will work together to identify 

those issues that have the most impact on residents and visitors within County 

Durham and investigate and resolve reports of ASB and highlight the values and 

beliefs of the partnership to serve as a guideline for operational decision making. 

We will ensure the victims voice is heard and this will play a key role in developing 

this strategy to ensure we provide an excellent service that encourages reporting 

and supports and effectively communicates with victims. 

It includes what we consider to be ASB and what we do not consider to be ASB. It 

recognises that whilst swift and effective action is needed to tackle high level ASB, 

action is also required to tackle what might be considered as low level ASB due to 

the impact this can have upon residents and visitors to County Durham. 

Whilst every effort will be made to prevent ASB through identifying those at risk and 

addressing their needs through suitable interventions and support there is a clear 

commitment to using the tools and powers available to resolve ASB where these 

measures have not been successful.  

This strategy does not sit in isolation but is intended to sit alongside other 

publications such as the ‘Safer Durham Partnership Plan 2021-2025’ and ‘A vision 

for County Durham 2019 -2035’ both of which have a commitment to tackle crime 

and anti-social behaviour and ensure that County Durham is a safe place to live. 

Our Strategy 

A Vision for County Durham 2019-2035 
A Vision for County Durham involved wide consultation with partners and the public 

to provide a shared understanding of what everyone wants County Durham to look 

like in 15 years’ time. It is there to provide direction to key public, private and 

voluntary sector organisations that make up the County Durham Partnership 

enabling them to work together to improve the quality of life of our residents. A 

shared understanding of the issues we face and our vision for the future will help 

organisations work together, removing boundaries and co-delivering services for the 

benefit of our residents. 

Page 78



 

6 
 

 

Commitments within the Vision for County Durham that mirror our Anti-Social 

Behaviour Strategy are: 

 We will create a physical environment that will contribute to good health. 

 All children and young people will have a safe childhood. 

 Victims of crime will have access to the right level of support, with services 

available to address their needs. 

 Our towns and villages will be vibrant, well used, clean, attractive and safe. 

 Communities will come together to accept and support each other. 

Safe Durham Partnership 
The vision of the SDP is that ‘Durham is a county where every adult and child will 

feel and be safe’. 

In order to achieve this vision, the SDP has six strategic priorities the following of 

which relate to ASB: 

 To support victims and protect vulnerable people from harm. 

 Reduce reoffending. 

 Promote being safe and feeling safe in your community. 

The SDP have worked hard to prevent and tackle ASB since its formation in 2009 

and are continually reviewing the way in which it achieves this goal. This strategy 

provides the framework by which the SDP will work together to prevent and deal with 

ASB across County Durham whilst embracing the following 8 principles: 

 Working in Partnership  

 Champion the Victims’ Voice  

 Provide the Best Victim Support 

 Provide Victim Centric Community Trigger & Community Remedy Processes  

 Implement Preventative Measures  

 To make full use of the tools and powers 

 Maximise use of digital technologies 

 An inclusive approach 

  

Page 79



 

7 
 

Safe Durham Partnership – ASB Strategy 
VISION:  Improving lives through tackling anti-social behaviour 

THE EIGHT PRINCIPLES 

 

Working in 
Partnership

Commitment to work with 
partners to tackle ASB

Sign up to a joint 
memorandum of 

understanding

Sign up to joint ASB Strategy 
and include joint strategic 
objectives in partner ASB 

delivery plans

Promote joint problem 
solving

Promote good news stories 
across the partnership

Collaborate on training

Champion the 
Victims’ Voice

Work with Victims’ 
Champions and Victims 

Commissioner

Consult with victims to 
ensure lived experiences 
are taken into account

Place victims at the centre 
of service delivery

Customer Service feedback 
& satisfaction to inform 

policy, planning and 
delivery of services

Provide the Best 
Victim Support

Provide and promote how 
to report ASB and to where, 

clear and consistent 
information signposting 

and referral pathways for 
victims

Provide a range of methods 
for victims to report ASB

Provide clear 
communication to victims

Aspire to a single front door 
entry to report ASB

Provide a victim Advocacy 
Service

Provide Victim 
Centric Community 

Trigger & 
Community Remedy 

Processes

Promote the local threshold 
and community trigger 

process

Enable victims to attend 
case reviews 

Consider victim impact

Appoint independent Chairs 
at Case Reviews

Develop an independent 
appeals process with the 

PCC

Provide a community 
remedy and restorative 

justice service

Publish Community Trigger 
Statistics Annually

P
age 80



 

8 
  

Implement 
Preventative 

Measures

Promote local problem 
solving

Promote and undertake 
diversionary activities

Undertake crime prevention 
measures where possible

Engagement and Education

Ambition to Co-commission 
services and collaborate 
when accessing funding 

opportunities

Make full use of 
tools and powers

Provide staff training across 
the partners on tools and 

powers

Agree lead agencies to take 
ownership where there is 

joint responsibility

Provide an incremental 
process of escalation to inc: 
Early Intervention, Support 

& Enforcement

Facilitate better use of the 
powers granted to the 

Courts 

Maximise use of 
digital technologies

Broaden the digital service 
offer

Commit to data sharing

Use a common reporting 
framework and where 

possible common software

Use technology to analyse 
and evaluate service 

provision and allocate 
resources

Continually improve 
customer experience e.g. 

Improve call handling 
response times

An Inclusive 
Approach

Rural proofing to ensure 
rural communities are not 

disadvantaged

Provide Social Value

Undertake Equality Impact 
Assessments 

Prioritise areas of high 
deprivation and need

Take into account impact on 
health and well-being

P
age 81



 

9 
 

Other key strategic documents 
The causes and implications of ASB both on the victims and perpetrators will not be 

resolved in isolation and working together and understanding the roles of our 

partners, voluntary organisations and other strategic groups can play is crucial in 

order to ensure we are not duplicating efforts, pooling resources and funding and 

collaborating and shared goals. As part of the ASB Strategic Group, who will have 

responsibility for driving this strategic approach, key stakeholders are involved to 

ensure this happens and consideration will be given to other strategic plans and 

documents that play a part in tackling this issue such as: 

 County Durham Youth Justice Plan 2022-23 pdf 

 The Poverty Strategy 2022-26 pdf 

 Inclusive Economic Strategy 2022 pdf 

 County Durham Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2021-2025 pdf 

 Durham Police and Crime plan 2021-2024 pdf 

 Growing Up in County Durham Strategy 2023-25 pdf 

 Durham County Council Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 2019-

2022 pdf 

 County Durham Housing Strategy July 2019 pdf 

Action Plan 
The ASB Strategic Group will be responsible for taking forward the approach 

identified in the strategy and developing and committing to an action plan that will 

help realise the full potential of this strategic approach.  

Each objective within the strategic plan has a separate S.M.A.R.T. (Specific, 

measurable, achievable, realistic and timed) delivery plan that is owned by the ASB 

Strategic Group and monitored regularly including updates to the Safe Durham 

Partnership Board. 

Delivery and Measuring Outcomes 
The ASB Strategic Group will be responsible for ensuring that the principles of this 

strategy are delivered through the ‘Safe Durham Partnership Plan’.  

The SDP Plan is the overarching community safety plan for County Durham and will 

be used by partners to achieve the vision of ensuring that ‘Durham is a county where 

every adult and child will feel and be safe’. The action plan will include clear 

objectives and performance indicators. 

The Safe Durham Partnership has in place a Performance Management Framework 
structured around the strategic priorities. Performance management arrangements of 
the Safe Durham Partnership Plan are refreshed on an annual basis and 
incorporated into the Safe Durham Partnership Performance Management 
Framework. This ensures responsibility and accountability of the strategic actions 
within the Plan. 
 
 

Page 82

https://democracy.durham.gov.uk/documents/s158968/Appendix%202%20-%20Youth%20Justice%20Plan.pdf
https://mgov.durham.gov.uk/documents/s165129/Poverty%20Strategy%20and%20Action%20Plan.pdf
https://mgov.durham.gov.uk/documents/s166300/Appendix%202%20-%20County%20Durham%20Inclusive%20Economic%20Strategy.pdf
https://countydurhampartnership.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2021/09/JointHealthAndWellbeingStrategy.pdf
https://global-uploads.webflow.com/5fda6a31bca106741c9e1ee2/61f93828877dbc0b016131a6_New%20PCC%20Policing%20Plan%202021-2024%20Final-compressed%20for%20website-compressed.pdf
https://mgov.durham.gov.uk/documents/s165107/Appendix%202%20-%20GUiCD%20Strategy%202023-25.pdf
https://www.durham.gov.uk/media/33923/Homelessness-and-rough-sleeping-strategy/pdf/HomelessnessAndRoughSleepingStrategy.pdf?m=637372328985500000
https://www.durham.gov.uk/media/33923/Homelessness-and-rough-sleeping-strategy/pdf/HomelessnessAndRoughSleepingStrategy.pdf?m=637372328985500000
https://www.durham.gov.uk/media/31966/Housing-strategy-County-Durham/pdf/HousingStrategyCountyDurhamJuly19.pdf?m=637771519108130000


 

10 
 

 
In addition, each group which supports the work of the Safe Durham Partnership has 

a specific action plan and performance management framework that directly 

supports the delivery of the Safe Durham Partnership Plan. 

The Safer and Stronger Communities Overview and Scrutiny Committee provides 

assurance and oversight of the partnership and its subgroups including the ASB 

Strategic Group. 

Current performance indicators include:- 

 Respondents who agree that police and local authorities are dealing with anti-
social behaviour and crime issues that matter to them. 

 Reports of anti-social behaviour 

 Reduce ASB rates within the Selective Licensing Scheme areas by 10%  

  

Page 83



 

11 
 

Approach to Wellbeing  
The County Durham Approach to Wellbeing has been adopted by the Safe Durham 

Partnership as a means of ensuring all organisations and services within the county 

consider wellbeing as a common currency; it includes everything that is important to 

people and their lives. It is designed to promote whole system change and to invoke 

a culture where the wellbeing of the County’s residents is considered in every 

decision that is made whether this be regarding decisions about people or places, or 

the systems designed to support them.  

Our approach has seven principles, underpinned by a strong evidence base. These 

principles affirm the key role that residents can play in supporting their own 

communities and the significant improvements in health and wellbeing outcomes that 

can result from involving residents more in decisions that affect them. A community 

can be defined as a geographical community or a community of interest such as 

people living with dementia or asylum seekers.  

Our approach has people and places at its heart. Working with communities, building 

on the assets of those communities, supporting the positive development of the 

neighbourhoods that people live in and fostering the resilience and empowerment of 

these communities through the support offered to everyone, and importantly to those 

who are most vulnerable. 

 

Page 84



 

12 
 

What is Anti-social Behaviour (ASB) 
ASB resists a simple definition as what may be unacceptable behaviour to one 

person may be tolerable to another. It can be wide ranging from minor public 

nuisances to more serious criminal acts such as harassment and drug use.  

The definition of ASB that will be used by the SDP it that defined in the Anti-Social 

Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014 as: 

• Non-housing related 

Anti-social behaviour in a non-housing related context is that the conduct concerned 

has caused, or is likely to cause, harassment, alarm or distress to any person.  

• Housing-related 

Anti-social behaviour in a housing context is conduct capable of causing nuisance or 

annoyance to a person in relation to that person’s occupation of residential premises 

or conduct capable of causing housing-related nuisance or annoyance to any 

person.  

Whilst the legal definition of ASB is important in terms of evidence gathering and 

ensuring that the legal tests are met to enable enforcement action to be taken, the 

SDP also accepts that the impact upon a victim is at the heart of any response to 

ASB. 

In addition to the definition above the SDP divides reports of ASB into three 

categories to help us define, monitor and report incidents. These categories are 

Environmental, Personal and Nuisance and are defined as: 

• Environmental ASB – the interface between people and places. It includes 

incidents where individuals and groups have an impact on their surroundings 

including natural, built and social environments. This would include incidents such as 

littering, irresponsible disposal of waste, fly-tipping, graffiti, dog fouling, deliberate 

fires etc. 

• Nuisance ASB - those incidents where an act, condition, thing or person 

causes trouble, annoyance, inconvenience, offence or suffering to the local 

community in general rather than to individual victims. This would include noise by 

neighbours, rowdy behaviour, smoke from fires etc. 

• Personal ASB – those incidents deliberately targeted at an individual or 

group or having an impact on an individual or group rather than the community at 

large. 

The SDP will consider and assess reported incidents and the impact that it is having 

upon the victim to determine what action can be taken. Where it is not possible to 

take formal action the need for additional support will be considered and provided 

where possible. In some instances, the ASB may constitute a criminal offence and 

will therefore be dealt with appropriately. 

Page 85



 

13 
 

These definitions however can be confusing to members of the public especially 

when different agencies and organisations record and report on these in many 

different ways using many different databases. 

The Safe Durham Partnership has agreed a list of behaviours that could best 

describe antisocial behaviour. However, the list remains flexible. The prevalence of 

these behaviours varies in different areas of the county. The Antisocial Behaviour 

Strategic Group employ a range of techniques to profile the nature of antisocial 

behaviour as it occurs across the county. We share information in accordance with 

legal frameworks to understand the nature of local problems, assess risk, and direct 

resources where they are needed most. 

Personal: 

 Intimidation / harassment / abuse 

Environmental: 

 Criminal damage / vandalism / graffiti  

 Environmental cleanliness 

 Abandoned cars 

 Pollution 

 Deliberate fires 

Nuisance: 

 Noise 

 Rowdy behaviour 

 Nuisance behaviour 

 Drug and substance misuse / dealing 

 Loitering / pestering 

 Animal nuisance 

 Vehicle nuisance 

Criminality and ASB 
ASB occupies the space where criminal and civil law overlap. The legal definitions of 

ASB use concepts from both civil and criminal law. Much of what we consider to be 

anti-social could be covered by criminal law but there are also civil remedies used to 

address it. 

An array of criminal offences could apply to anti-social behaviour and can be 

sanctioned with court action or an ‘out of court disposal’. However, it can sometimes 

be difficult or undesirable to dispose of low level anti-social behaviour through the 

courts. This is either because the burden of proof cannot be reached, or because it 

will not be in the public interest to do so. Therefore, civil or informal remedies are 

often favoured above criminal sanctions. 

Whilst criminal sanctions are available to the Police, civil remedies are available to 

both the Police and the Council and can be used by both agencies to tackle ASB. 

Some of the powers in the Anti-Social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014 are 

Page 86



 

14 
 

only available to the Police e.g., dispersal orders and some are only available to the 

Council e.g., PSPO, but most of the tools and powers that would be used against 

individuals causing ASB can be used by both agencies. 

The Police and the Crown Prosecution Service (CPS) may find that it is not in the 

public interest to pursue a criminal justice outcome for those who commit ASB. This 

is in part because ASB can be addressed through civil remedies which require a 

lower burden of proof. It is also because the police and CPS must direct their 

resource to offending that causes the most harm. They may decide it is more 

efficient and effective to resolve low harm ASB outside the criminal justice system 

and use civil powers available to them and the Council through the above legislation. 

What is not ASB 
In considering reports of ASB there will be cases where no action is possible by the 

SDP as the circumstances of the incident are not considered to be unreasonable and 

therefore not ASB. The SDP expects a reasonable level of tolerance between 

members of our community and would encourage where possible that those involved 

try to resolve the matter themselves. 

Investigating officers will make a fair and reasoned assessment to determine when 

further action can and can’t be taken. Examples of what the SDP would not consider 

to be ASB are as follows: 

 Normal household living noise such as children playing, noise from household 

appliances, doors closing, babies crying. 

 Children playing in public spaces where there is no associated ASB such as 

harassment or damage to property. 

 Family disputes.  

 People being unpleasant to each other where the actions are not considered 

to warrant intervention e.g., raised voices, arguments. 

 Disputes about street parking where there is no associated ASB such as 

harassment or damage to property. 

 One off incidents which would not be considered a nuisance and / or where 

there is insufficient evidence to warrant further investigation. 

The complainant will be advised at the earliest opportunity where the matter reported 

is not considered to be ASB and will be provided with advice and signposted to other 

agencies and support where possible.  

Who deals with ASB? 
Whilst the Home Office is responsible for making and implementing policies to tackle 

anti-social behaviour across England and Wales, Local Authorities and the Police 

lead on tackling anti-social behaviour at a local level. In addition, Registered Social 

Landlords and Private Landlords form key partners in the response to anti-social 

behaviour by tackling issues surrounding the tenancies of the properties that they 

manage.  

Page 87



 

15 
 

Local Authorities 
The Council is responsible for the delivery of a range of services including 

neighbourhood services, children’s services, transport and housing. Through the 

Crime and Disorder Act 1998 the Council is obliged to consider how they can 

prevent anti-social behaviour and crime through the delivery of all of its services. 

Whilst the Council has a team of Neighbourhood Wardens, an Environmental 

Services team and a dedicated Anti-Social Behaviour Interventions team and that 

respond directly to reports of anti-social behaviour there is an underlying 

responsibility to consider how we can prevent anti-social behaviour through the 

policies, decisions and service provided by all Council services. 

Neighbourhood Policing Teams 
The Police are also responsible for tackling crime and anti-social behaviour which is 

delivered through Neighbourhood Policing Teams that build relationships with 

communities. Police Officers and Police Community Support Officers (PCSO’s) form 

a key part of this response to anti-social behaviour and work closely with partners 

and residents. 

Registered Social Landlords 
Registered social housing providers, such as housing associations, have a 

responsibility to prevent and tackle incidents of anti-social behaviour connected with 

the properties that they manage and the tenants that they house. Action against a 

perpetrator can be taken in the form of informal warnings, breach of a tenancy 

agreement, injunctions, and possession proceedings. RSL’s form part of the SDP 

and work closely with partners, in particular the Council and Police, to deal with anti-

social behaviour. 

Private Rented Sector Landlords 
All responsible agencies will liaise with private sector landlords as and when required 

and on a case by case basis. Whilst private sector landlords are not legally 

responsible for the anti social behaviour of their tenants they may be able to take 

their own action through effective tenancy management. 

Private landlords with properties registered under the private rented property licence 

(also known as ‘selective licensing’), have responsibilities in relation to measures to 

prevent and combat anti-social behaviour. 

A major selective licensing scheme began on 1st April 2022 and will run for 5 years. 

It covers 42% of the private rented sector in County Durham. Landlords renting out 

property in these designated areas will require a licence and comply with conditions 

of the licence. There are a number of conditions related to ASB including: 

 Landlords must demand references in respect of prospective tenants 

 Tenants must be provided with a written statement detailing the terms of 

occupancy including the responsibility for not causing ASB 

Page 88



 

16 
 

 Licence holder must take all reasonable and practicable steps to prevent ASB 

including taking steps to terminate tenancies. They should also co-operate 

with DCC, Police and other agencies where ASB has been identified at their 

property. 

Non-compliance with the licence conditions could lead to a number of sanctions 

including: 

 Prosecution. 

 Civil penalty up to £30,000. 

 DCC taking over the management of the property. 

 Banning Order. 

 Entry on to the Rogue Landlord Database. 

Further information on contact details and how to report currently are in Appendix 3 

at the back of this document. 

The Local Context 
The Safe Durham Partnership is required by statute to develop an annual strategic 

assessment. To provide current data and information for stakeholders which is easy 

to access, a series of web-based factsheets has been developed which is part of 

Durham Insight which is a shared intelligence, research and knowledge base for 

County Durham, informing strategic planning across Durham County Council and its 

partners. This site includes in depth Insight factsheets and lots of topic-based 

intelligence including infographics, maps and story maps. New intelligence content is 

regularly added, and the site is continuously being developed and improved.  

What is the issue? 
Whilst incidents of anti-social behaviour continue to be managed, such incidents can 

have a significant impact on individuals and communities. Problem solving 

approaches and partnership working remains key to addressing the issues and 

further partnership work and place-based approaches are being considered.  

Why is it important?  
Resilient and cohesive communities are more likely to engage with services and 

report crime and anti-social behaviour. In order to achieve this there are a range of 

tools and powers available to partner organisations to tackle anti-social behaviour. 

However, our real strength in communities lies in the recognition of place-based 

community assets and seeking to mobilise these in order to support each other and 

listening to the individuals within those communities in order to improve a sense of 

belonging and purpose so that people are safe and free from the fear of crime.  

How does it impact people? 
Being and feeling safe both in our homes and within the wider community impacts on 

our emotional and physical wellbeing. It also directly impacts on our personal 

resilience as well as impacting overall on community levels of resilience, confidence 

and cohesion. 

Page 89



 

17 
 

ASB Data 
Information on the level of ASB in County Durham is maintained and reported 

through the SDP. An ASB Dashboard is currently in development which is a utility 

run via Power BI (a Data analysis tool) that incorporates Data from across relevant 

agencies and services from the Police (Includes Durham City Parish and Durham 

University Data), Council, Fire and Rescue and Believe Housing. We are also 

expanding this data set to incorporate the other housing organisations that operate 

within the County.  

This tool will be utilised alongside more anecdotal information provided via local 

intelligence from elected members, the public, and officers to establish the new 

priority issues for County Durham in relation to anti-social behaviour and what is 

really important at a local level, establishing a local realistic definition and data set. 

This tool will be used at a strategic level to ensure that we as a partnership are able 

to identify those trends in behaviours and develop a strategic approach to tackling 

the man issues. 

To tackle antisocial behaviour, we need to have a clear understanding of the nature, 

frequency, location and complexity of the issue. We can identify the problems of 

most concern, where and when they occur, and the sectors of our communities most 

affected by combining a range of data and intelligence held by partner agencies. 

Working together in this way, we can understand problems, prioritise responses and 

make joint recommendations to resolve them. 

Reports of ASB across the County during the 12 months ending 31 March 2022 

(excludes all housing associations except Believe Housing). 

  

Page 90



 

18 
 

Consultation 
Both the Safe Durham Partnership Plan 2021-2025 and the PCC’s Plan 2021-24 

were consulted on recently and this will also have useful information on ASB from 

the view of those residing and working in County Durham, including the experience 

of the victim and suggestions on how this can be improved. 

There were also several other consultations that have recently taken place that may 

contain valuable feedback to help inform the strategy: 

 The Big Econ-versation. 

 PSPO (Public Spaces Protection Order) consultation for Durham City Centre. 

 Housing Targeted Development Plan priorities. 

 Growing up in County Durham Strategy. 

 AAP (Area Action Partnerships) Priorities. 

 Student voice survey 2022. 

 Durham Constabulary Rural Crime Survey. 

 Durham Police & Crime Commissioner – Council Tax (Precept) 2021 

A summary of the findings relating to ASB can be found in Appendix 1. 

The Voice of our Communities 
We know that ASB has continued to remain a priority for the community following 

consultation on the Safe Durham Partnership Plan in 2020 where feeling safe and 

being safe in the community was a priority that the partnership should focus on with 

a key deliverable within that priority being antisocial behaviour. This continued to be 

the case even during the challenging time of the COVID-19 pandemic when a 

refresh or the plan was carried out in 2021 and the reassurance from the community 

that this continued to remain an area of high priority, with 96% of respondence 

agreeing with this decision.  

This was further re-enforced through the safer and stronger communities overview 

and scrutiny committee consisting of both elected members, co-opted officers from 

various government bodies such as the police and fire and rescue as well as well-

respected members of the private sector business. Further to agreeing that the 

properties and key deliverables around antisocial behaviour were correct they 

reiterated the importance of concentrating on secondary fires and stressed the 

importance of having this as a separate area of within the plan and that the blight off 

nuisance motorcycles and quads needed to be highlighted as a key incident type 

that needed to be tackled within the plan on its refresh on 2021.  

Local Councillors are a key partner and often the voice of the local community. They 

provide the link with the community and agencies, often being the ones to report the 

local issues and intelligence from those that have either lost confidence to report 

themselves or those that believe they aren’t being heard or believe the right action 

hasn’t been taken to address their issues. We need to ensure that there are the 

mechanisms in place so that members are involved in this process, consulted on and 

kept informed on relevant issues. 

Page 91



 

19 
 

The PCC's consultation on the police and crime plan showed a cross over in 

priorities with ASB also being a top priority for the PCC (Police and Crime 

Commissioner) in her plan following her election in 2021. Engagement with the 

community during the formation of the plan and since has provided key insights into 

what both the police and partners should be focusing on specifically around a single 

front door approach to reporting ASB and identifying common ground regarding what 

should and should not be classed as ASB. 

A Victim Centred Approach 
Supporting victims and witnesses is another priority area within the Safe Durham 

Partnership Plan and is led by the work of the Victims and Witness’s subgroup. The 

Police and Crime Commissioner has also appointed three Victims’ Champions, one 

focusing on anti-social behaviour to ensure the victim’s lived experiences are taken 

into consideration when commissioning of services. 

We know that, where left unchecked, anti-social behaviour can have an 

overwhelming impact on its victims and, in some cases, on the wider community. We 

cannot stress enough the importance of this voice within the area of ASB to both 

learn from our mistakes, and continuously improving both our response to this issue 

for victims and witnesses, improving communication and managing expectations.  

This will be further developed my ensuring that throughout the life of this strategy we 

continue to maintain and strengthen relationships of victims and witnesses of ASB 

and proactively seek the opinions on how we as individual services and agencies 

had responded to and dealt with their investigations as well as a partnership 

response, which we know had been an area of concern over recent years with 

confidence in the police and council tracking ASB being relatively low compared to 

other areas of the country at 54% within the National Crime Survey. 

The partnership will work with the Victims’ Champions and Victims’ Commissioner to 

place victims and their needs at the centre of service delivery.  The Partnership will 

consult with victims to ensure victims’ lived experiences are taken into account and 

will use customer service feedback to inform policy, planning and service delivery. 

To ensure a victim centred approach the Partnership will: 

 Provide clear and consistent signposting information for victims 

 Provide a range of methods for victims to report anti-social behaviour 

 Provide clear communication and referral pathways to victims 

 Aspire to a single front door for victims to report anti-social behaviour 

 Provide a victim’s advocacy service for vulnerable victims and those activating 

the case review or community trigger 

 Promote how to report anti-social behaviour 

Community Tension 
Community tensions through rising incidents of ASB within our communities continue 

to be monitored using the partnership's tension monitoring toolkit which is an 

intelligence gathering tool that identifies rising concerns were ASB directed at a 

Page 92



 

20 
 

particular section of a community can be identified early and a partnership response 

actioned swiftly. Over recent years these have highlighted concerns within the GRT 

communities and issues around hate crime rather than ASB in general. However, 

this method of raising tension concerns will continue to be promoted and any 

concerns that require a partnership response raised at the local MAPS meetings for 

further action. 

The Rural Community 
Getting it right for our rural communities. We need to recognise that the landscape 

within County Durham consists of both highly populated urban conurbations as well 

as more sparsely populated vast rural areas particularly in the West of the country. 

These areas present many challenges in relation to timely response from services, 

the lack of an internet connection, an aging rural population, lack of a reliable and 

regular transport infrastructure and a focus on issues of ASB very specific to that 

community. We need to ensure that we reduce the gap in the disparity in services 

and the ability the contact these services to raise a complaint or report an incident 

and the challenges with providing an accurate location when doing so. 

What is Rural Proofing? 
The term ‘rural proofing’ is used to define a systematic approach which identifies any 

notable rural differentials likely to impact on service effectiveness and outcomes. It 

assists service providers by enabling thinking about appropriate solutions, 

mitigations and opportunities. The objective is to ensure equitable outcomes for 

service users who live in rural areas. 

Rural Proofing can help to: 

 Optimise the outcomes achieved by strategies and plans. 

 Demonstrate a commitment to act equitably and benefit all communities. 

 Support locality-based approaches to working and service. 

 Design out any unintended gaps in service provision. 

 Identify opportunities to innovate or make better use of available resources. 

 Embed good practice within strategy and plan making. 

Rural proofing recognises that rural areas have distinct geographies, often 

characterised by a dispersed population and small settlements. This can present 

challenges both for providers who deliver services and residents who use them. 

There may be lost economies of scale, if smaller service hubs are needed, and extra 

downtime or travel costs for those visiting service users at home. Gaps in 

infrastructure (such as public transport and digital connectivity) may also be an 

important rural consideration. 

The Business Community 
Economic impact is also a concern with the voice of businesses within the retail, 

industrial and night-time economy raising their concerns during the consultation in 

the production of a new economic strategy for the council as part of the Big Econ-

versation. Engaging further with our business community to ensure we are focusing 

Page 93



 

21 
 

on areas that will enable us to support our local existing business and attract further 

opportunities into the area can only have a positive impact on our communities and 

improve the well-being and prosperity of our residents, workers and business 

owners.  

Young people 
Just like all sections of society young people can be both the perpetrators and 

victims of ASB. There is a misnomer that young people are the cause of most ASB. 

However, we do know that children and young people who are not in education or 

subject to trauma and neglectful parenting are more likely to both commit and be a 

victim of ASB. It is imperative that when addressing ASB, committed or experienced 

by young people that a holistic whole family, strength based, trauma informed 

approach is used to both understand what life is like for the young person and help 

to better understand potential solutions and interventions.  

Continuing to learn about young people’s experiences of harm and safety outside the 

home and working in partnership with professionals and communities across County 

Durham, will help increase protection in young people’s peer groups, schools and 

neighbourhoods. 

A number of key priorities have been identified to provide help and support for young 

people, at the earliest opportunity including:  

 Implementation of Fearless across County Durham  

Fearless is the youth arm of Crimestoppers and provides dedicated resources to 

schools to work with young people and also provides young people a confidential 

route to report crime. https://www.fearless.org/ . The Area Action Partnerships 

agreed to support the employment of a Crimestoppers Fearless worker for 2 years. 

They also agreed to support a £20,000 campaign budget to support local targeted 

campaigns through social media and print media. This would enable to project to 

operate countywide through the employment of a dedicated Fearless worker. 

 Development of a directory of positive activities and diversionary schemes  

A directory has been established by Children and Young Peoples Services working 

closely with the AAP’s and our partners which will be shared with the community and 

key services that work directly with young people. This directory will remain under 

constant review and provide information on positive activities available for young 

people and of diversionary interventions and activities where there are early signs of 

involvement in ASB. Evaluation of diversionary programmes and co-production with 

young people and their families will inform future developments to address young 

people’s ASB.  

County Durham Youth Justice Service (CDYJS) supervises all sentences imposed 

on young people in the youth court and all out-of-court disposals imposed by the 

Police. These sentences are imposed for committing crimes. However, many of 

these young people are also responsible for anti-social behaviour in their 

neighbourhoods and CDYJS will complete full assessments of why the young person 

Page 94

https://www.fearless.org/


 

22 
 

behaves in this way and undertake the interventions that have the greatest chance of 

changing anti-social behaviour and build on the strengths of the young person and 

their family. 

Social value and the Durham pound 
It is imperative that new initiatives are developed to maximise the value of every 

pound we as a partnership spend, to work with developers, suppliers and our 

partners to create and develop opportunities for local economic opportunities, local 

wealth building and retention as well as social value outcomes. Our business 

partners are a part of our community and often they can be a fantastic untapped 

resource in relation to helping improve our community and environment. 

Anti-social behaviour and Safeguarding 
When investigating incidents of anti-social behaviour there are often underlying 

complex causes and needs that can be identified. Having an open mind from both a 

victim and perpetrator perspective is crucial as the lines between both are often 

blurred and transition back and forth. Having suitable training to ensure investigating 

officers are aware of their statutory requirements in relation to safeguarding. These 

complex needs and how they can impact on a person’s behaviour are often a key 

element in resolving a complaint and also in safeguarding a vulnerable person from 

the risk of harm, for example: 

 A noise complaint may on the surface be a very simple issue however on 

further investigation it may become apparent that the noise from banging, 

shouting and screaming heard through the walls of an adjoining property may 

be the result of domestic abuse.  

 People turning up to a lone adult males property with signs of alcohol and 

drug abuse and loud parties may actually be cuckooing, where a vulnerable 

adult with learning needs is being taken advantage of by organised crime 

gangs and their property used to sell and take drugs. Things are not always 

what they seem and if concerns aren’t highlighted and referred then it could 

lead to further harm and in extreme cases loss of life. 

 Adopting a contextual safeguarding approach to better understand, and 

respond to, young people’s experiences of significant harm beyond their 

families. Recognising different relationships that young people form in their 

neighbourhoods, schools and online and that they can feature violence and 

abuse. Parents and carers have little influence over these contexts, and 

young people’s experiences of extra-familial abuse can often undermine 

parent-child relationships. 

Making these safeguarding referrals can often lead to involvement in multi-agency 

safeguarding arrangements taking place where suitable intervention and support can 

be offered. The agencies involved can be varied but often include Police, Social 

Services, Health, Mental Health practitioners, Education, Probation, Youth Justice, 

Local Housing providers etc. i.e.: 

Page 95



 

23 
 

 MARAC (Multi agency risk assessment conference – For victims of domestic 

abuse) 

 Channel (Safeguarding panel for those vulnerable to radicalisation) 

 Adult Safeguarding meetings 

 Child Safeguarding meetings 

The Tools and Powers 
The Anti-Social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014 introduced more effective 

powers to tackle anti-social behaviour and provide better protection for victims and 

communities. The Act seeks to put victims first, giving power to local people and 

enabling professionals to find the best solutions for their local area. 

The Police, Local Authorities and other local agencies are provided with a range of 

flexible tools and powers that can be used to respond quickly and effectively to anti-

social behaviour some of which are listed below: 

 Environmental Protection Act 1990 

 Refuse Disposal Amenity Act 1987 

 Prevention of Damage by Pests Act 1949 

 Clean Neighbourhoods Act 2005 

 Public Health Acts Amendment Act 1907 

 Environment Act 1995 

 Criminal Damage Act 1971 

 Highways Act 1980 

 Control of Pollution Amendment Act 1989 

 Housing Act 1996 

 

The Anti-Social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014 and associated guidance 

revised in January 2021 provide three overarching methods of dealing with anti-

social behaviour.  

1. By putting victims at the heart of the response to anti-social behaviour by 

introducing the Community Trigger to ensure that victims voices are heard 

together with the Community Remedy to give victims a say through out of 

court punishments through a community resolution disposal. 

2. Through early informal interventions that are intended to encourage an 

individual to change their behaviour. 

3. By providing flexible powers to ensure that the lead agencies have the 

necessary enforcement tools that they need to respond to different types of 

anti-social behaviour. 

See Appendix 2. For more detailed information on the tools and powers available to 

partners to tackle ASB. 

Page 96



 

24 
 

Problem-oriented policing (POP) 

Focus of the intervention 
This is an approach to tackling crime and disorder that involves: 

 identification of a specific problem 

 thorough analysis to understand the problem 

 development of a tailored response 

 assessment of the effects of the response 

POP is an approach to develop targeted interventions, rather than an intervention 

itself. 

A POP approach can therefore be applied to any crime and disorder problem. It 

should not be viewed as an alternative to interventions in the crime reduction toolkit 

but used in conjunction with them.  

POP can be described in the context of the OSARA (objective, scanning, analysis, 

response, assessment) model of problem solving. 

The model assumes that by identifying and understanding the root causes of a 

problem or conditions that enable it to persist, the solution developed to tackle it will 

be effective. 

The OSARA model  
The OSARA Model employs five stages. 

Objective – What we want to achieve 

Scanning – the identifying and prioritising of potential crime and disorder problems.  

Analysis – the analysis of potential problems, by gathering information and 

intelligence to identify underlying causes of the problem.  

Response – the development and implementation of tailored activities to address 

the causes of the problem, as identified in the analysis phase. 

Assessment – the measurement of the impact of the response to test if it had the 

desired effect and to make changes to the response if required. 

This method will form the basis for our partnership approach to tackling ASB within 

County Durham. 

Community Trigger 
The ASB Case Review, often referred to as the ‘Community Trigger’ is an important 

statutory safety net for victims of anti-social behaviour who believe they have not had 

a satisfactory response to their complaints about anti-social behaviour. Where a 

locally determined threshold is met, victims can require the relevant bodies in the 

local area to undertake a review of the case, and those bodies have a statutory duty 

to undertake that review. In addition to the victim, the Community Trigger can be 

activated by a person on behalf of the victim who is aware of the circumstances and 

Page 97



 

25 
 

acts with the victim’s consent. This might include a family member, friend, carer, 

councillor, Member of Parliament or other professional. Receiving a Community 

Trigger application should not be perceived by agencies as a complaint about their 

work but as an opportunity to find a solution for the victim(s) of the anti-social 

behaviour. 

Anti-social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014: Anti-social behaviour powers 

Statutory guidance for front line Professionals – revised June 2022 sets out the good 

practice expected from agencies for community trigger and community remedy 

including the role of the Police and Crime Commission. 

The Partnership will place victims at the heart of the community trigger process by: 

 Promoting the local threshold and community trigger process 

 Considering victim impact, taking into account the persistence of the anti-

social behaviour and the harm or potential harm caused by the anti-social 

behaviour 

 Enabling the victim and or victim’s advocate to attend case reviews 

 Appointing independent Chairs at case review meetings 

 Publishing community trigger statistics annually 

 Providing a community remedy and/or restorative justice service. 

 Providing an independent appeals process through the Office for Police and 

Crime Commissioner 

Community Remedy 
The Community Remedy document is a list of actions that the victim will be invited to 

choose from when a community resolution is to be used. The list of actions may vary 

from one police force to another, based on what is available in the area and what the 

Police and Crime Commissioner and Chief Constable agree is appropriate. The 

Community Remedy document must be published. They should consider providing 

this to the local Community Safety Partnership and the local agencies responsible for 

preventing and tackling anti-social behaviour. It is also good practice for Police and 

Crime Commissioners to ensure that the public are aware of the document. 

SWOT Analysis 
 

A SWOT analysis is a planning tool which seeks to identify the Strengths, 

Weaknesses, Opportunities and Threats involved in a project or organisation. It's a 

framework for matching an organisation's goals, programmes and capacities to the 

environment in which it operates. 

A SWOT analysis will be undertaken on the partnerships current approach to 

tackling ASB. This will identify where we are doing well and what we need to either 

start doing or improve on, plus it will identify any threats on the horizon that may 

impact on delivery. 

This work will help form the basis for what will need to be included in an action plan 

moving forward and a commitment from partners to deliver. 

Page 98



 

26 
 

 

  

Page 99



 

27 
 

Case Studies 
 

Multi-Agency problem Solving Meetings (MAPS) - Wheatley 

Hill dog track 
 

Since its closure in 2019, the then abandoned greyhound racing track in Wheatley 

Hill had become a hub for anti-social behaviour and a persistent target for vandalism, 

arson and wider disorder. The site had derelict buildings which were a magnet for 

youth disorder and there had been several attacks on the emergency services when 

they had been called to deal with incidents. 

A collaborative effort was made by the partner agencies in the Multi Agency Problem 

Solving (MAPS) group to tackle the problem. A swift call was made to all key service 

providers to come together to scan and analyse the problem and to deliver solutions. 

Enforcement visits were made by the relevant partners to identify the youths that 

were at the centre of the disorder and anti-social behaviour which proved effective. 

In order to make some long-lasting solutions local council services worked closely 

with the tracks owners to facilitate and clear the site of the derelict buildings. By 

removing them from the site it became less appealing to youths to frequent there and 

therefore provided some visible reassurance to the local community when reports of 

disorder, crime and arson stopped. 

The work was followed up by press articles and wider communications highlighting 

the work of the services but to give the public confidence that the partners were 

listening to their concerns and effective action had been taken. 

 

Crime and Anti-social behaviour Risk Assessment 

Conference (CASBRAC) – Shotton Colliery 
 

On a Friday in early November 2021 7 arsons occurred in Shotton Colliery.  There 

had been a rise in Arsons in the Peterlee area and in particular Shotton Colliery.  A 

CASBRAC was required to invite key decision makers around a meeting to identify 

ongoing work by partner agencies and identify actions to take forward for their teams 

with the sole aim of working together on a particular problem for the benefit of the 

Shotton Community. 

All partners worked extremely well together in problem solving the location and 

targeting the offenders.  This had a positive impact on reducing the number incidents 

of arson in the Shotton Area. 

Due to the sheer volume of the arsons at one time it had a significant impact on the 

community, which had also attracted attention from Local MP’s and County 

Councillors. The CASBRAC process allowed partners to meet together and show our 

Page 100



 

28 
 

united front against this problem and several actions were identified, which were 

shared with the community to show action had been taken and increase their 

confidence. 

Incidents have reduced over the past few months and the County Councillors have 

expressed their satisfaction in how the incidents had reduced. 

It is suspected that the main offenders who were responsible previously have started 

to be involved once again upon release from prison.  Action has already been taken 

in relation to addressing this by targeting the main offender who is on a Criminal 

Behaviour Order. 

A further CASBRAC will be considered if patterns start to emerge. 

  

Page 101



 

29 
 

Appendix 1. 

Summary of relevant consultations. 
 

The Big Econ-versation 
This is a consultation for the County Durham Economic Strategy and will highlight 

issues around ASB raised by the business community in Industry, retail and night-

time economy. 

Business Response 

There were only a few respondence that cited relevant concerns around ASB and 

crime with 3 directly commenting on the issue: 

 The public are scared to go out and there is an issue with public confidence in 

government. 

 Crime is the biggest challenge for our business 

 A concern around the management of licenced premises in Durham City 

Centre. 

Public Response 

From the consultation within the Big Econ-versation targeted at the public the 

following questions was asked: 

Thinking about where you live, do you agree or disagree that it has safe streets and 

a low crime rate? 

From the 969 respondents 34%, a third, disagreed or strongly disagreed with this 

statement, which is a concerning proportion as concerns could directly impact on the 

footfall in the retail high street areas within the County for local businesses. 

 60 respondents directly mention Anti-social Behaviour as being the main 

issue. 

 33 mentioned youth disorder as an issue. 

The overarching themes from the comments received were around: 

 Youth disorder. 

 Elderly residents do not access shops in the evening due to not feeling safe. 

 Lack of visibility of Police. 

 Low employment. 

 The impact of drug and alcohol abuse. 

Durham City Centre PSPO (Public spaces protection order) 
Consultation on making drinking alcohol in public and aggressive begging in Durham 

City an offence. 

Page 102



 

30 
 

Most respondents believed the implementation of the PSPO would have a positive 

impact on ASB, Alcohol related issues and student behaviour however there were 

concerns around how this would be enforced and that more support was needed to 

prevent homelessness/alcohol dependencies. 

Housing Targeted Development Plan priorities. 
The consultation was targeted at residents living in areas where we aim to target 

services to improve housing and the environment. 

It focused on areas which have been found to be most in need, to make a real 

difference and bring about improvements to housing and the local environment. 

Seven Targeted Delivery Plan (TDP) areas were identified across the county: 

 Blackhall Colliery South 

 Coundon Grange 

 Deneside East (Seaham) 

 New Kyo 

 Stanley Hall West 

 Thickley (Shildon) 

The aim of the consultation was to identify priorities for each TDP area which will 

help to improve the quality of existing housing and support and maintain mixed and 

balanced communities in the wider community. 

 

The top three top housing issues that concerned residents most were: 

 Anti-social behaviour 

 Property conditions 

 Number of empty properties in the area 

The top three top non-housing issues that concerned residents most were: 

 Presence of dog fouling 

 Litter 

 Fly-tipping 

The top three most important options look to improve the appearance of the area 

including local shops or community facilities: 

 Improvements to pavements and public walkways 

 Tidy up shop fronts (shutters, paint work, shop signs, broken windows) 

 More dog waste bins 

The main themes mentioned within the free text comments were: 

 Lack of youth provision/facilities 

 Cleanliness of the streets re dog fouling and litter and fly-tipping 

 More wardens patrolling the area and taking enforcement action. 

Page 103



 

31 
 

 More visible police presence. 

 The community spirit of the area seen as a positive. 

 ASB 

 Too many empty and boarded up properties. 

 Off road motor bikes and quads an issue. 

Growing up in County Durham Strategy. 
During March / April 2022, children, young people and parents / carers were asked 

to take part in an initial engagement exercise ahead of developing the new children, 

young people and families strategy. 

Within these boundaries, there were two elements to the exercise: 

1. To tell us what words or phrases they would like to see included in a 

statement of ambition for all the county’s CYP&F for Growing Up in County 

Durham?  

2. We also asked them a series of questions to help us identify what their 

aspirations and priorities are, what issues and challenges they are facing and 

where relevant, what they think of the services they receive? 

Out of the emerging themes the following were relevant to the ASB Strategy: 

Safety / trust: 

 Being safe at home    

 Safe places to play and learn   

 Gaining independence    

 Bullying / peer pressures   

 Diversionary activities    

 ASB      

 Drugs 

 Crime 

 Improved safety in public areas e.g.CCTV 

 More child friendly places / venues 

 Parent / child relationships 

 Getting in with the wrong crowd 

 Risk taking behaviour 

Access to facilities, programmes and services: 

 More accessible opportunities  

 Time of day    

 Access to technology   

 Waiting times    

 Clubs      

 Listen to what CYP want 

 Transport, affordability 

 Location – too far away 

Page 104



 

32 
 

 Not knowing about what’s available 

 Access to out of school activities/ leisure 

 Access to exercise facilities 

 More free or subsidised fares / entrance fees. 

Environment and climate change: 

 Litter 

 

Worries: 

 Environment e.g. litter   

 Socialisation    

 Mental health 

 Increase in crime / ASB locally 

 Support 

 Bullying. 

AAP (Area Action Partnerships) Priorities. 
There are 14 AAPs in the county. AAPs consist of members of the public, 

representatives for Durham County Council, town and parish councils, police, fire, 

health, housing, business, and voluntary organisations. Together they work with 

communities and organisation to identify local priorities and the actions required to 

tackle them, allocate funding to local organisations, and monitor the difference that 

funding and support is making to communities. 

To identify and help set these priorities, AAPs engage local residents and key 

stakeholders to ask them to use their local knowledge to provide their opinions 

on what they consider to be the key local priorities for their AAP area. 

During 2020/21, as a result of the Covid-19 Pandemic, all AAPs worked towards the 

common priority of ‘Community Recovery’, instead of individual priority choices. The 

priority included the following themes: 

 Employability initiatives, 

 Advice and guidance, 

 Mental health and wellbeing, 

 Organisational sustainability (specific help for VCS organisations who lost 
income due to the pandemic), 

 Food provision and support, 

 Social isolation, 

 Support for the voluntary and community sector, 

 Support to small businesses (through a third party, not-for-profit), 

 Emerging community issues. 
 

AAPs have, once again, asked their individual communities to guide their work and 

see which priority themes they should concentrate their efforts on for the coming 

Page 105

https://www.durham.gov.uk/article/1960/About-AAPs


 

33 
 

year. The survey allowed residents/stakeholders to have their say on keeping 

‘Community Recovery’ as an overarching theme, instead of returning to individual 

priority themes that AAPs have traditionally consulted on pre Covid-19. Residents 

and stakeholders were also given an opportunity to suggest additional priorities for 

their local area, and an opportunity to remove themes from the ‘Community 

Recovery’ Priority. This gave residents and stakeholders a chance to suggest 

bespoke localised issues for their individual AAP. In addition, residents and 

stakeholders were also asked to identify; ‘What would make your town or village a 

better place to live in?’  

2448 people participated in the survey with 81.5% of respondents either agreeing or 

strongly agreeing to continue to have the single priority of Community Recovery for 

2022/23 

Additional common priority themes that came across throughout the County and 

through the Towns and Villages question relevant to the Safer Partnership were: 

 Young people 

 Community safety 

 Activities for young people 

 New community facilities 

 Community safety: Policing issues 

 Community safety: Antisocial behaviour 

The Student Voice Survey. 
This survey will inform the development of plans and services across County 

Durham and is designed to positively impact upon pupils as services can be directed 

to support where particular issues come to light. 

The survey has been designed in conjunction with children and young people and 

includes questions of a range of topics that could provide insight for this strategy 

including: 

 Social wellbeing 

 Mental health and wellbeing 

 Behaviour and safety 

 Online safety 

 Health and physical wellbeing 

 Physical activity 

 Community wellbeing 

 Access to community facilities 

The overarching themes relating to ASB for both the Primary age group and 

Secondary age group were: 

Primary 

 That a majority (93%) say that they are provided awareness on how to protect 

the environment. 

Page 106



 

34 
 

 A quarter (22%) say that there are times in school when they don’t always feel 

safe. 

 Over half (55%) would you like to be more physically active. 

Secondary 

 A third (30%) said they don’t always feel safe either in school or outside. 

 Again, over half (56%) would you like to be more physically active. 

Durham Constabulary Rural Crime Survey. 
In partnership with the National Farmers Union, Durham Constabulary carried out a 

rural crime survey. This gave an outlet for people in rural communities to have their 

say on how they feel or their personal experiences of rural issues. The aim of the 

survey was to know what the community thought the police and partners could do 

better to help rural communities, who often feel isolated. 

The top five key priority issues/concerns identified by respondents, in order of priority 

were: 

1. Trespassing with bikes/off-road 4x4 

2. Speeding 

3. Fly tipping 

4. Poaching/hare coursing 

5. Machinery theft 

Whilst there were several specific actions suggested that could be taken to alleviate 

the issues identified above, there were several commonly suggested actions that 

were reported across all five priority issues, as well as for the other issues that did 

not score as priorities. These are listed below: 

 Police attending incidents when reported rather than via telephone 

 Quicker police response when incidents are reported 

 Dedicated rural policing contacts/teams with specialist knowledge of rural law 

and of the rural areas they police 

 More police patrols in hotspot problem areas and at hotspot dates/times 

 Stricter penalties for the offenders/increased fines/custodial sentences 

 Increase in and better use of CCTV/Cameras/ANPR in hotspot areas 

 Increase in and better use of community groups such as WhatsApp groups, 

Neighbourhood Watch, Rural Watch etc. 

 Increase in both preventative and helpful signposting, i.e. trespassing 

warnings, appropriate dog walking advice, private land, CCTV warnings, 

numbers to report any problems such as fly tipping etc. 

 Improve collaborative working/relationships between local communities and 

police. 

When asked about technologies that could be employed to prevent rural crimes or 

help to notify the police sooner to such crimes, respondents gave several positive 

suggestions however by far and away, the most commonly suggested technology 

was the use of cameras in one form or another. 

Page 107



 

35 
 

Lastly, when asked if respondents felt there were any actions that they themselves 

and their communities could take that would help the Police to alleviate rural issues, 

a large majority of comments related to police-led actions whereby the majority 

suggested an increase police presence in rural communities and/or installing a 

dedicated rural policing team in areas with a direct contact point and a guaranteed 

police response to incident reports; some proactive suggestions were offered where 

the vast majority of these related to the continued and increased level of reporting 

incidents when they occur and the continued and increased use of community 

groups such as WhatsApp groups, Ruralwatch, Farmwatch etc. to support each 

other as well as to collate and disseminate intelligence when appropriate. 

Durham Police & Crime Commissioner – Council Tax 
Precept (2021) 

The Police and Crime Commissioner for County Durham and Darlington is  
responsible for setting the budget for Durham Constabulary. The majority of its 
funding comes from central government grant with the remaining coming via a 
precept on council tax.  
 
A survey was undertaken in 2021 by the Police and Crime Commissioner who has a 
statutory duty to consult local people and council tax payers when setting the budget 
for Policing in County Durham and Darlington. In addition, the views of local 
residents and what matters to them most are an important aspect of this consultation 
as it helps inform local policing priorities.  
 
91% of respondents considered tackling anti social behaviour was a priority and 
identified the following anti-social behaviours being of most concern:- 

 Environmental Crime (32%); 

 Alcohol/drugs related ASB (35%);  

 Groups of people in public spaces causing harassment, alarm distress (45%) 

 Noise nuisance (7%)   

Page 108



 

36 
 

Appendix 2. 

Further information on tools and powers. 

Early Interventions 
Early intervention may often be all that is necessary to stop incidents of anti-social 

behaviour. Such interventions can establish clear standards of behaviour and 

reinforce the message that anti-social behaviour is not tolerated. These early 

interventions may include: 

 A verbal or written warning- where officers are satisfied anti-social behaviour 

has occurred. 

 A community resolution - primarily aimed at first time perpetrators and where 

an out-of-court disposal is more appropriate than taking more formal action. 

 Mediation - can be an effective way of resolving an issue by bringing all 

parties together. 

 Acceptable Behaviour Contracts - a written agreement between a perpetrator 

of anti-social behaviour and the agency or agencies acting locally to prevent 

that behaviour. 

 Parenting Contracts - like an acceptable behaviour contract but are signed by 

the parent or guardian where it is considered that they have an important part 

in changing behaviour. 

 Tenancy Agreements – Registered Providers and Private Landlords 

(specifically in Selective Licensing Areas) may encourage tenants to comply 

with tenancy conditions preventing anti-social behaviour. 

 Support and counselling – whilst positive support may be provided through 

more formal enforcement action it can also be given as part of any informal 

intervention. 

Civil Injunction 
An injunction is a court order requiring an individual to do or not do a specific action. 

Intended to be a speedy method of preventing problems from escalating by setting 

clear standards of acceptable behaviour. It can also include positive requirements to 

get the individual to deal with the underlying cause of the behaviour. 

Criminal Behaviour Order 
This replaced what used to be known as the ASBO. Issued by a criminal court 

against a person who has been convicted of an offence to tackle the most 

persistently anti-social individuals who are also engaged in criminal behaviour. Like 

the injunction they can include prohibitions together with positive requirements aimed 

at addressing the cause of the anti-social behaviour. 

Dispersal Power 
This requires a person committing or likely to commit anti-social behaviour, crime or 

disorder to leave an area for up to 48 hours and is a power available to the Police. 

Page 109



 

37 
 

Whilst they are short term, they can provide a swift and immediate respite to the 

individuals affected by anti-social behaviour. 

Community Protection Warnings and Notices 
These can be served to stop a person aged 16 or over from committing anti-social 

behaviour and where there is evidence that the behaviour is unreasonable, 

persistent, and having a detrimental impact upon those in the locality. A warning 

must be issued prior to the Notice. 

Public Space Protection Order 
A PSPO can where necessary be used to control place based anti-social behaviour 

by imposing restrictions on the use of an area that apply to everyone. They are 

intended to ensure that the law-abiding majority can use and enjoy public spaces 

without suffering anti-social behaviour. 

Closure Order 
These are a tool that can be used to quickly close down premises that are causing 

nuisance or disorder. A Closure Notice would initially close the premises for up to 48 

hours and can be applied out of court. An Order can be issued by the court to close 

a premises for up to 6 months. 

Other Tools and Powers 
As a partnership we look to ensure that we have a problem-solving approach which 

includes a range of elements including, prevention, intervention, community 

empowerment, integrated intelligence along with enforcement. Although the ASB, 

Crime and Policing Act was introduced in 2014 there are wider tools and legislative 

powers that partners utilise to enforce on activities that can be deemed as antisocial 

but may also be criminal in nature for example the Environmental Protection Act 

1990 provides enforcement for nuisance, littering and fly tipping. 

Due to the wide range of incidents that may be considered to be anti-social 

behaviour the use of criminal sanctions by the Police may be more appropriate than 

the use of the above powers. Conversely there may also be times when the above 

tools may be more appropriate to tackle mildly criminal neighbourhood concerns. 

 

  

Page 110



 

38 
 

Appendix 3. 

Further information on reporting ASB. 
 

For issues dealt with by Durham County Council please follow the link below. 

Anti-social behaviour - Durham County Council 

 

For issues dealt with by registered social landlords please find contact details by 

following the link below. 

Housing associations - Durham County Council 

 

For issues dealt with by Durham Constabulary and how to access the Community 

Trigger Process please follow the link below. 

Antisocial behaviour (durham.police.uk)  

Page 111

https://www.durham.gov.uk/asb
https://www.durham.gov.uk/article/2847/Housing-associations
https://www.durham.police.uk/Advice-Centre/Personal-safety/Antisocial-behaviour.aspx


 

39 
 

 

Page 112


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the Meeting held on 12 December 2022
	6 County Durham and Darlington Fire and Rescue Service Community Risk Management Plan - Report of the Chief Fire Officer
	Item 6 Presentation on CRMP 2023 with notes

	7 Probation Service - Report of the Corporate Director Resources and Presentation by Head of County Durham and Darlington Probation Service
	Item 7 Probation Service Presentation DURHAM OSC 27 February 2023

	8 County Durham Youth Justice Service - Overview, Performance, Service Developments and Improvement Plan 2022/23 - Report of the Corporate Director, Children & Young People's Services
	Item 8 App CDYJS OSC Presentation February 2023

	9 Anti-Social Behaviour Strategy 2022 -2025 - Report of the Corporate Director of Neighbourhoods and Climate Change
	Item 9 App Final ASB Strategy 2022-25


